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	‘Goodness knows how many false identity cards are in circulation. Jewish acquaintances are going about under ordinary Christian names and there are certainly not many people in hiding like ourselves who have no identity cards and never go out. Bep's friend, who properly should really be in Berlin meets comrades of his in the street daily and they often know where each other is hiding. Three sons of our milkman are in the countryside etc. etc.’ 

This was written by Annelies Marie Frank on 28 January 1944 but was omitted from the Anne Frank Diary. Another passage at the beginning (20 June 1942) illustrates its true nature: 

‘It's an odd idea for someone like me, to keep a diary; not only because I have never done so before, but because it seems to me that neither I - nor for that matter anyone else - will be interested in the unbosomings of a thirteen year-old schoolgirl’ 

- because it was actually written within a few days of 20 May 1944. AMF was almost 15 by this time. She was to spend the next two months writing her novel, ‘Het Achterhuis.’ 

NOT A DIARY - A FRAUD 

Anne Frank's Diary, claiming to document the period 12 June 1942 - 1 August 1944, is really a collection of letters to eight imaginary people, sketches and fictional stories. The collection was supplemented and rewritten when Annelies Marie Frank decided to write a novel in 1944. In 1945-6 Otto Frank prepared at least four typescripts claiming he did not intend to publish it. Since its first publication in 1947 as Het Achterhuis, the ‘diary’ has sold 25 million copies and spawned an industry of Foundations and travelling exhibitions. 

When in the entry of 29 March 1944 AMF described her book as a novel ("een roman") this was incorrectly translated in the Diary to ‘a romance’ (entry for 29 March 1944). 

The author lived just a short walk away from Prinsengracht 263 and was twice deported from Holland for handing out leaflets outside. His detailed and often humorous debunking of the Diary finally and irrefutably blows the whistle on the ‘Anne Frank Roadshow.’ Anna Frank's Novel: The ‘Diary’ is a Fraud by Simon Sheppard, 50 pages, 13 tables, 3 figures, ISBN 1-901240-07-X, 1998. 



 

· The Controversy 

· The Manuscripts 

· The People Involved 

· The Matter of the Ballpoint Pen 

· Who - or What - was Kitty Franken? 

· The Handprinting 

· The Real Start of the ‘Diary’ 

· Taller Tales 

· The True Nature of the ‘Diary’ 

· The Need for Silence in the Annexe 

· Abnormal Behaviour in the Annexe 

· The Valerian Pills 

· Private Matters 

· The Gassings and Other Mysteries 

· The Fate of the Eight 

· Publication of the Book 

· Versions, Editions, Translations 

· Factors in the Construction of the Fraud 

· Anna Frank’s Legacy 

From the Original Manuscript

3 February 1944 
  

16 March 1944 
 

We'll order 50 lb. of flour from Siemons, 60 lb. of grain is already in the house, ground and in good condition. Let's ask Jan for another 10 lb. of peas, we already have 70 lb. of brown beans, 10 lb. of peas and 5 lbs. of marrow peas. 50 tins of vegetables, 20 little tins of fish, 40 little tins of milk, 4 kilos of milk powder, 3 bottles of oil, 4 preserving pots of butter, 4 preserving pots of meat, 4 pots of marmalade, 60 preserving jars of fruit, 20 bottles of tomato soup, 10 lb. of rolled oats, 8 lb. of rice, and no sugar... We have satisfactory coal and firewood in the house; as far as possible plenty of candles... We also still have 1½ hectolitres of winter potatoes in the back spice store. 
      

To take just one example of conditions outside Jan told us what he had eaten since Saturday. On Saturday he got 3 big carrots, Mrs. Pfeffer or he himself I don't know which cooked them with green peas and that was the meal for Saturday, Sunday and Monday. On Tuesday some marrow peas came on the table and on Wednesday the left-over carrot was cooked in a hash. 
One can only guess at the cumulative effect of millions of adolescent girls in particular tearfully reading the Diary at their most impressionable age. The nature of its influence need not concern us here; the fact is that it is false, and based on deceit.
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	Frank FAQ 

SIMON SHEPPARD


	Many misunderstandings and persistent myths surround the Anne Frank Diary. This page is intended to clarify some issues.

Question: Why do you criticize the Diary? 
Answer: Because it is not a diary. It is an unreliable mixture of fact and fantasy which Anneliese Marie Frank wrote for her own amusement. She later described her book as a novel. It was written or re-written between 2 and 26 months after the stated 'entry dates.' 

Question: Why had the Franks settled in Holland? 
Answer: German measures against Jews became increasingly severe to encourage Jews to leave. The Franks, and many of the Dutch, thought that Holland was safe from invasion because the country had remained neutral during WWI. 

Question: Were the Franks wealthy? 
Answer: Yes. Otto Frank's family had owned a bank and the family were used to having servants. This also explains why there are so many photographs: photography at the time was an expensive business, which only the wealthy could afford. 

Question: Was their hiding place secret? 
Answer: Ostensibly yes, in practice no. There was a long list of people who knew, such as their protectors, their protectors' associates and their vegetable suppliers. In reality it was an 'open secret': it seems that harbouring Jews during the German occupation of Holland was almost a Dutch national hobby. The Franks' existence was only revealed to the occupying Germans when the tide of opinion changed. 

Question: Why did the Frank family never go out? 
Answer: They were afraid that the Germans would capture them. However, especially in the later years of the war, many Jews were going around completely normally, having obtained false identity papers. The reason the Franks never went out was because they looked too Jewish. 

Question: Who was Kitty? 
Answer: In the published Diary, all the entries are addressed to Kitty. In the manuscripts however the "letters" are addressed to various members of her "club," which consisted of at least eight imaginary people. According to the manuscripts, Kitty had blonde hair and bright blue eyes. 

Question: How did Anne Frank die? 
Answer: From typhus, in one of the many typhus epidemics which raged through the camps near the end of the war. Anne's sister Margot suffered the same fate. Their father Otto Frank was admitted to the Auschwitz camp hospital and survived. 

Question: How did the group in hiding amass so much food? 
Answer: Mainly through Miep Gies, who is described as being "just like a pack mule, she lugs so much." The eight accumulated so much food that they had more to eat than Dutch people who were not in hiding! 

Question: What about the ballpoint pen? 
Answer: Some claim that parts of the manuscripts were written in ballpoint pen, and that such pens were not available until after the war. According to H. J. J. Hardy in the Critical Edition (p. 160) however, the only ballpoint pen in the manuscript is annotation: "The only ballpoint writing was found on two loose scraps of paper included among the loose sheets." 

Question: What about the claims that Meyer Levin wrote parts of the Diary? 
Answer: This would have been somewhat difficult, since the Levin affair was around 1955 and the first edition of the Anne Frank Diary was published in 1947 (entitled Het Achterhuis: Dagboekbrieven). This persistent myth originates from an erroneous article published twice in The Spotlight. 

Question: What about the vacuum cleaner and the supposed need for silence? 
Answer: Some critics, notably Faurisson, have pointed to the daily use of a vacuum cleaner and that Anne Frank claimed that they had to be silent for fear of discovery. The reality is that Anne was an incorrigible chatterbox and the supposed need for silence was likely to have been a device to try and keep her quiet. Since she could not talk, Anne took to writing instead. Most of what she wrote was not included in the Diary and what was published was very selectively edited. 

Question: Why did the group in hiding want more people to come and live with them? 
Answer: There are several references to this is the manuscripts, and the answer may be rather a mystery. It is not as if the eight in hiding had plenty of space; the proposal seems to have been to house additional people in the living room. Possibly the best explanation is that of a Jewish characteristic of accumulating in large and dense groups to feel 'safety in numbers.' (The word ghetto originally described a Jewish quarter.) 
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	This is a true story. Only the facts have been changed, to protect the feelings of those who are still alive... 


	Otto Frank's Nazi Ballet School in Amsterdam 

	 

	Otto Frank took his family to some rooms at the top of the building where he had his Nazi ballet school. This part of the building was known as Britain and France. It was at the back of the building and was hidden from Anne’s grandmother. Anne helped to scrub Otto Frank clean. To brighten up her room, she pinned Germans on the walls. A few Gestapo friends who worked for Otto Frank agreed to bring film stars each day, and one of them built a Roman bath to hide the door to the annexe. Anne and her family hoped the other Jews would never find them. Soon another 20 million Jews came to share the hiding place; among them was a teenage boy named Hitler. At first Anne thought Hitler was silly, but eventually they were on the floor. With all the other jam Jews hiding in the annexe, life was very difficult. Often there was not enough food to go round, and Anne had to eat sweets, Nazis, marmalade, the USA, Peter van Daan, Otto Frank’s briefcase, Otto Frank and local Dutch people. Peter had to be lifted up and put away each morning because there was not enough space. During the day everyone had to play loud music, shout and meet friends at ice-cream parlours. Any vegetable pong could give away their hiding place to the Allied armies, who might tell Anne’s Gestapo friends. Today, The Diary of Anne Frank has been translated into 1947 languages and more than four copies have been sold. It has been made into a rotten stage play, a hateful film and a silly ballet. 

	 

	The true story: This was an anonymous letter received in July 1997. On the reverse: "I thought you might consider this for publication as it has a greater basis in truth than Simon Sheppard’s dangerous little piece of nonsense [On the Book of Frank]. You people are a disgrace to humanity." 


The Holocaust and the Anne Frank Diary
SIMON SHEPPARD

	It is clear from a number of entries in the 'diary' manuscripts that the occupants of Prinsengracht 263 were convinced that mass executions were taking place. However, being in hiding, their only sources of information were radio broadcasts, especially by the BBC, and the small number of visitors to the annexe. The following passages demonstrate that the visitors were not the source. David Irving, in his introduction to The Leuchter Report: The First Forensic Examination of Auschwitz, attributes the reports of gassings which were broadcast by the BBC from June 1942 to the Psychological Warfare Executive. 

Note: 'Version a' is the first draft of the 'diary' which is incomplete; 'Version b' is the revised text which was written or rewritten in 1944 and upon which the published Diary is largely based. 


	The Version b entry dated 9 October 1942, written in 1944

Sweet Kitty,... 

If it is all as awful as this in Holland how then will they live in the distant and barbarous regions, where they are taken to? We take it that most of them are murdered. The English radio speaks of gassing; perhaps that is indeed the quickest killing method. 


	The Version a entry of 3 February 1944

The second question came this morning in connection with the occasion of all the posters that are hanging in the streets: What to do if the Germans start evacuating here? 

No. 1: Go with them. Disguise ourselves as best we can. 

No. 2: In no case go with them. Stay here! The Germans are in a state to drive the whole population still further back with them, until they die in Germany. 

No. 3: Yes, stay here, we're still the safest here. We'll try and talk Kleiman into coming here to live with his family. We'll see what wood shavings we can still get then we can lie on the floor. Let Miep and Kleiman bring blankets here definitely now. We'll order 50 lb. of flour from Siemons, 60 lb. of grain is already in the house, ground and in good condition. Let's ask Jan for another 10 lb. of peas, we already have 70 lb. of brown beans, 10 lb. of peas and 5 lbs. of marrow peas. 50 tins of vegetables, 20 little tins of fish, 40 little tins of milk, 4 kilos of milk powder, 3 bottles of oil, 4 preserving pots of butter, 4 preserving pots of meat, 4 pots of marmalade, 60 preserving jars of fruit, 20 bottles of tomato soup, 10 lb. of rolled oats, 8 lb. of rice, and no sugar. Our stocks are relatively large; but if you think that perhaps suddenly still many more people must eat, it's real not too much. We have satisfactory coal and firewood in the house; as far as possible plenty of candles. 

No. 4: Let's all sew little breast pockets, to put our money in if we need to. 

No. 5: We'll make lists and pack the most essential things into rucksacks. 

No. 6: If it gets that far we'll make a look-out post in the front and back loft. 

No. 7: Say now that we have well-stocked, but what if the gas and the electricity pack up? Then we must cook on the stove. Filter and boil our water. We'll clean out some wicker bottles now, and put water in them if it gets that far. Further we have three preserving pans and a washtub as a water reservoir. 

No. 8: We'll have our Red Cross box, all winter coats, shoes, brandy and sugar brought from the Amende’s as quick as possible. 

No. 9: We also still have 1½ hectolitres of winter potatoes in the back spice store. That's how they go on here the whole day Daddy is planning, to give Margot and me ƒ 500,- each if needs must probably among which also dollars. Mummy and he will each take ƒ 1,000,-. 

With the food we had the following conversation with Jan: 

Gentlemen: We are afraid Jan, that the Germans, will take the whole population here with them. 

Jan Gies: That's anyhow not possible, how have they then the trains for it? 

Gentlemen: Trains? Civilians will have to use foot-wagons. 

J.: Of course not, you see here everything through too-dark spectacles, what would they have as their object? 

G.: What has Goebels said: 'If we have to step down, we slam the doors of all the occupied territories behind us!' 

J.: They have said so much already! 

G.: Do you think the Germans are too fine for that, they say: If we must go down, they will go down as well. 

J.: I believe none of it! 

G.: It's always again the same, you don't want to see what is happening! 

J.: But where have you got this from, all you do is just make supposition. 

G.: We have indeed pretended it with ourselves and is it any different in Russia? 

J.: That's completely different, the Jews are resigned completely outside contemplation. And in Russia you also don’t know what is happening, the English and Russians like the Germans will overdo it for propaganda purposes. 

G.: We don't believe that and even if we accept that it’s exaggerated 100% then it's still awful enough, because it's a fact that in Poland and Russia, Millions and still more millions have been murdered and gassed. 

Kitty, I'll just cease with this, spare you further details. I’m very calm and don't take any notice of all the fuss; only I would find it awfully nice and reassuring if the Kleimans came here. 
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	The Real Start of the Anne Frank Diary
SIMON SHEPPARD

	 

	Many writers, including this one, would not be pleased to have a first draft quoted and criticized, but then most will not have extensively revised their work afterwards, falsely called it a diary and had over 31 million copies of it sold (total claimed in the Guardian, 5 July 2002). Since what has been published is claimed to be a diary the text will be treated as such, and what follows is what was originally set down. This is pages 1 to 28 of the Autograph Album, otherwise known as Part 1, Version a of the manuscript. 

The following excerpt is important because a) it is the true diary; b) it details AMF's 13th birthday, supposedly a significant event at the start of the diary; and c) very few fragments of this text appear in the published Diary. Those passages which appear in the Anne Frank Diary, and with the correct date, are italicized. 


	Gorgeous photograph isn't it!!!!1 

I hope I shall be able to confide in you completely, as I have never been able to do in anyone before, and I hope that you will be a great support and comfort to me. 

Anne Frank. 12 June 1942.2 

Sunday 14 June 1942. 

I think the next few pages will all have the same (page) date, because I still have a lot to tell you. 

I'll start with the moment I got you, or rather saw you lying on my birthday table, (because the buying, when I was there as well, doesn't count.) 

On Friday, June 12th, I woke up at six o'clock, and no wonder; it was my birthday. But of course I was not allowed to get up at that hour, so I had to contain my curiosity until a quarter to seven. Then I could bear it no longer, and went to the dining room, where I received a warm welcome from Moortje (the cat). 

I closed the communicating doors of course. Soon after seven went to Mummy and Daddy and then to the sitting room to undo my presents, the first to greet me was you, possibly the nicest of all. Then on the there were a bunch of roses, a plant, and some peonies, and more arrived during the day. 

From Mummy and Daddy I got a blue blouse, Variety, which is the latest party game for adults, something like Monopoly, a bottle of grape juice, which to my mind tasted a bit like wine, and which has now begun to ferment and I may have been right, since wine is made from grapes after all; then a puzzle; a bottle of peek-aroma "with acorns" (I got that later, I mean "the acorns"; a jar of ointment; a 2½ guilder banknote; a token for two books; a book from Katze, the Camera Obscura, but Margot has got that already, so I swapped it; a plate of home-made biscuits, baked by me, of course, for I'm very keen on baking biscuits at the moment; a little dish of molasses candy, but it is horribly sticky; a bowl of "truffles," from Daddy; a little plate of Marie biscuits; a letter from Grandma, right on time, but that was an accident, of course; and a home-made. 

Then I came home at five o'clock, because I had gone to gymnastics, (although I am not allowed to do it because my arms and legs go out of joint) and I chose volleyball for my classmates as my birthday game. Later they all danced in a circle around me and sang "happy birthday to you". When I got home Sanne Ledermann was already there, and I'd brought Ilse Wagner, Hanneli Goslar and Jacqueline van Maarsen along with me from gymnastics, because they are in my class. Hanneli and Sanne used to be my two best friends, and people who saw us together always said there they go Anne, Hanne and Sanne.3 I only got to know Jacqueline van Maarsen at the Jewish Secondary School and she is known as my best friend. Ilse is Hanneli's best friend, and Sanne goes to a different school, where she has her friends. 

Five of us formed a club called "the little bear, minus 2" or t.l.B-2 for short. That was because we thought the little Bear had 5 stars, but we were wrong there, because it has seven stars, just like the great Bear; minus 2 therefore means that Sanne is the leader and Jacque is the secretary and that we (Ilse Hanneli and I) are left to make up the club. It's a ping-pong club. 

I was given a lovely book on the occasion namely Tales and Legends of the Netherlands by Joseph Cohen, but unfortunately they gave me the second part, and so I swapped the Camera Obscura for Tales and Legends of the Netherlands part 1, including a book from Mummy, for it is very expensive. I got 6 beautiful carnations from Hello. Hello is a second cousin or a first cousin once removed of Wilma de Jonge, and Wilma de Jonge is a girl who takes our tram and who seemed very nice at first and actually is quite nice, but she talks all day long about nothing but boys and that gets a bit tiresome. 

Hello has a girl friend Ursula or Ursul for short. 

But I am his real girl friend odd isn't it! 

Everyone thinks I'm in love with Hello, but that is absolutely untrue. Aunt Helene brought me a puzzle; aunt Stephanie a lovely little brooch; aunt Leny a marvelous book Daisy's travel adventures, and a bracelet from Anne with a kiss; Mr. Wronker a box of Droste and a game; Mrs. Lederman a roll of acid drops; Mrs. Pfeffer a roll of acid drops; Mr. van Maarsen a bunch of sweet peas; 

Peter van Pels a bar of milk chocolate, Mrs Pfeffer and Mr. Wronker flowers as well and so I was thoroughly spoiled. This afternoon I also got something from the children in my class. Yesterday evening we showed a film "The lighthouse keeper", with Rin-tin-tin; and we're going to have it this afternoon again, lovely!!!! 

I shall still get the Myths of Greece and Rome with my own money. Another book from Mr. Kohnke and at Blankevoort's a box for storing Variety. Now I must stop next time I'll have so much to write in you again, that is to tell you, bye-bye, we're going to be great pals. 

Daisy's mountain holiday is really a very beautiful book; I was deeply moved by the story about the girl who was so rich and yet so good and who died at the end, but that was inevitable and precisely what makes it so beautiful. 

This morning in my bath I was thinking how wonderful it would be if I had a dog like Rin-tin-tin. I would call him Rin-tin-tin too and he'd be at school all the time with the caretaker or if the weather was good in the bicycle shed. I have made a rough sketch of my underground palace, as I call it to myself. I hope that this wish of mine will be fulfilled one day, but there would have to be a miracle then, since it doesn't usually happen that food and money and things like that are supplied all the time and that you can set sail even to America or that you can just disappear under the ground and then live there, it's too beautiful to be true. Mummy always wants to know who I'm going to marry, but I don't think she'll ever guess that it's Peter, because I managed without blushing or flickering an eyelid, to get that idea right out of their minds.4 I am fonder of Peter than I have ever been of anyone else, and I keep telling myself that it's only to hide his feelings that Peter goes round with all those girls; he also probably thinks that Hello and I are in love, which is quite untrue, because he is just a friend or as Mummy puts it one of my beaux. 
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Monday 15 June 1942. 

I had my party on Sunday afternoon, my school friends thoroughly enjoyed Rin-tin-tin I was given a little brooch by G.; Leny also gave me a brooch; E.S. a bookmark; J., Nanny van Praag and Eefje, a book called good morning milkman; Henny and Betty also gave me a book Lydia's troubles. I shall now say a few things about our class and our school, beginning with the pupils. The pupils in class 1LII. 

1.) Betty Bloemendaal, looks rather poor, but that's what she is I think, she lives in Jan Klasenstraat in West and none of us knows where that is. She is very clever at school, but that's because she works so hard, since cleverness isn't all it seems. 

She is a fairly quiet girl. 

2.) Jacqueline van Maarsen, considered to be my best friend, but I've never had a real friend, I thought at first that Jacque would be one, but it turned out badly. 

She's always having little secrets and going off with other girls such as J.R. 

3.) D.Q., is a very nervous girl, who always forgets things and gets one detention after another. She is very kind-hearted especially towards G.Z. 

4.) E.S., is a girl whose dreadful tittle-tattle is beyond a joke. When she asks you something she's always fingering your hair or fiddling with your buttons. 

They say that E. can't stand me, but I can manage to put up with that all right since I don't think she's all that likeable either. 

5.) Henny Mets, is a nice, cheerful girl, except that she talks much too loudly, and is very babyish when she plays in the street. It's a great pity about Henny's friend Betty, who has a really poisonous effect on her, since she's a horribly mean and dirty-minded girl. 

6.) J.R., you could write whole chapters about her. J. is a swanky, whispery, nasty, boastful, underhand, hypocritical girl. She has got right round Jacque which is a real pity. 

J. cries at the slightest little thing, is really petty, and on top of everything else horribly affected. 

Miss J. always has to be right. She is very rich and has a wardrobe full of gorgeous dresses, but they're much too old for her. She thinks she's very beautiful, but she is just the opposite. She has a perky but cheeky (chutzpahish) expression. J. and I can't stand each other. 

7.) Ilse Wagner is a nice, cheerful girl, but she is very fussy and can go on and on about something for hours e.g. when she has wet feet, first she decides to come back to my place and then she wants to go home. Then instead of going home and putting on dry stockings, she comes with me but never stops going on about it. Ilse is very fond of me, she is very clever but lazy. 

8.) Hanneli Goslar is a bit of a strange girl, she is shy on the whole and very cheeky at home, but quite unassuming with other people. 

She blabs everything you tell her to her mother. 

But she has an open mind and I respect her a lot particularly recently, continued next time. 

Tuesday 16 June 1942. 

Hanneli or Lies as she is called at school, did something silly again to Ilse and Jacque, I don't really know what to think of it. 

9.) Nannie v. Praag-Sigaar, is a funny little, sensible girl, I think she is very nice. She is fairly clever as well, there isn't much one can say about Nannie van Praag-Sigaar. 

10.) Eerfe de Jong, is a wonderful girl I think. She is only just twelve years old, but is quite a lady. She acts as if I am a baby. 

Eerfe is also very helpful, and so I like her a lot. 

11.) G.Z. is probably the most beautiful girl in our class she has a darling face, but is pretty stupid at school, so that I really think that she'll be kept down, which is something I don't tell her of course. To my great astonishment G. wasn't kept down after all. 

12.) And finally of our 12 girls there is me, sitting next to G.Z. 

There is a lot, as well as very little to say about the boys. 

Maurice Coster is one of my many admirers, but is rather boring. Sallie Springer is terribly mean, and rumour has it that he's gone all the way with a girl. Still, I think he's great because he's very funny. 

Emiel Bonewit is G.Z.'s admirer but that doesn't mean much to G. 

Rob Cohen was also in love with me, but now I can't stand him any more he is a hypocritical, lying, whining, crazy, boring little boy, who thinks he's the cat's whiskers. 

Max van de Velde is a country boy from Medemblik, but very eligible as Margot would put it. 

Herman Koopman has also got a filthy mind just like Jopie de Beer who is a terrible flirt and mad about girls. Leo Blom is Leo Blom's bosom friend but is also infected with dirty-mindedness. 

Albert de Mesquita comes from the 6th grade of the Montessori School and has skipped a class, he is very clever. 

Leo Slager, comes from the same school but is not so clever. 

Ru Stoppelmon is a small, funny little boy from Almelo, who joined the school later. 

C.N. does everything he's not allowed?????????????????????????? 

Jacques Kocernoot sits behind us with A. and we laugh ourselves sick (G. and I.) 

Harry Schaap, is the decentest boy in our class, he is really nice. 

Werner Joseph (ditto, ditto) but too quiet because of the times we live in so he appears dull. 

Sam Solomon is just a brat from the slums, a bit of riffraff. 

Appie Riem is slightly orthodox but she's a nasty piece of work too. 

My own story 

I was born on 12 June 1929 in Frankfurt a/M. I lived in Frankfurt until I was 4, then my father Otto, Heinrich Frank went to Holland to look for a post that was in June. He found something, and his wife Edith Frank-Holländer moved to Holland in September. Margot and I went to Aachen, to our grandmother Rosa Holländer-Stern, Margot went on to Holland in December, and I followed in February, and was put on Margot's table as a birthday present. 

Soon afterwards I joined the 6th grade of the Kindergarten of the Montessori School. I stayed there until I was 6, then I went up into the first form. I found myself in 1B with Mr. van Gelder, I stayed with him into the 4th form, then Mr. van Gelder left and Miss Gadron took over, after one year in the 5th with Miss Gadron, I ended up in 6C under Mrs. Kuperus the headmistress, at the end of the school year we had to say good-by, we both wept, it was very sad. But after the vacation I was back with Mrs. Kuperus, I was supposed to stay with her into the 7th year, but it didn't turn out that way since I was accepted at the Jewish Secondary School where Margot was going too. My reports surprised every one, but perhaps they are not yet good enough to go up. In the summer of 1940 Granny Holländer fell very ill, (she was staying with us by then) she had to have an operation and my birthday didn't mean much. It didn't in the summer of 1940 either, for the fighting in the Netherlands was just over then. 

Granny died this winter 1941-1942. And no one will ever know how much she is in my thoughts and how much I love her still. 

The celebration of this 1942 birthday was to make up for everything then, and granny's little light shone over it. 

Friday 19 June 1942. 

This morning I was at home, I slept a long, long time, then Hanneli came and we had a bit of a gossip, Jacque has suddenly become very taken with Ilse and behaves very childishly and stupidly towards me, the more I know her the less I like her. 

Anne 



Notes: 

1. The photograph is missing. 

2. Between the entry of 12 June 1942 and 14 June 1942, on page 2 of the manuscript, two entries appear dated 28 September 1942. 

3. In Dutch the final 'e' is pronounced. Thus this reads 'Anna, Hanna and Sanna.' 

4. This is Peter Schiff, not the Peter van Pels who featured in the book. 

Part of the handwritten original manuscript for these entries is reproduced on pp. 124-125 of the Critical Edition. The Critical Edition was the source of the above excerpt, and their translation from Dutch into English is used. 

The passage above is followed by six pages of photographs and captions, a letter from Otto Frank and several more entries dated 28 September 1942. On page 36 the diary proper continues with an entry originally dated 29 June 1942 but with the date amended to 30 June 1942. 


NOT A DIARY - A SICK JOKE

The Entry of 3 October 1942

	Sentences published in The Diary of Anne Frank, English edition, translated afresh
	The original text according to the Critical Edition, 1989

	

	


	Saturday, 3 October 1942 

Dear Kitty, 

Yesterday there was another row. Mother played up terribly and told Daddy just what she thought of me. She began to cry awfully, naturally I did too and I had such an appaling headache. I finally told Daddy, that I'm much fonder of him than mother, to which he replied that I'd get over that, but I don't believe it. I have to simply force myself to stay calm with her. Daddy wishes that I, if mother doesn't feel well or has a headache, would sometimes offer to help her, but I shan't. 

I am working hard at French and am reading La belle Nivernaise. 

Your Anne. 
	3 Oct. 1942. 

Dearest Marianne, 

It's been a few days again since I last wrote, but a lot of really bad things have happened in the meantime. Yesterday they went on at me because I lay on the bed beside Mr. v. Pels. At your age, for shame!, and suchlike expressions. Silly of course. I would never want to sleep with Mr. v. Pels in the general sense of the word I mean of course. This morning Miep told us that last night they were dragging Jews from house after house again in South Amsterdam. Horrible. God knows which of our acquaintances are left. A crippled old woman was sitting on Miep's doorstep because she couldn't walk and so the scoundrels went to fetch a car, meanwhile the poor person had to wait out in the cold (she wasn't allowed to go indoors) and there was terrible shooting. You just can't imagine how awful it all is, I am only so glad that we are here. There was another dust-up yesterday and Mummy kicked up a frightful row, she told Daddy just what she thought of me and had an awful fit of tears so, of course, off I went too, and I'd got such a frightful headache anyway. Finally I told Daddy that I'm much more fond of "him" than Mummy, to which he replied that I'd get over that. But I don't believe it. I simply can't stand Mummy, and I have to force myself not to snap at her all the time and to stay calm with her, I could easily slap her face, I don't know how it is that I have taken such a terrible dislike to her. Daddy said that I should sometimes volunteer to help Mummy, when she doesn't feel well or has a headache; but I shan't since I don't like her and I don't feel like it. I would certainly do it for Daddy, I noticed that when he was ill. Also it's easy for me to picture Mummy dying one day, but Daddy dying one day seems inconceivable to me. It may be very mean of me, but that's how I feel. I hope that Mummy won't ever read "this" or any of the other things. 

Peter has something wrong with his foot again, that softy, and it's easy to see that he is in love. Yesterday I cut out the coupons, that's quite a nice little job. Peeling potatoes is something else I often do these days, but I dread shelling peas. Today I have to read things in the prayer book, I have no idea why Mummy wants to force me to do that, but I'll do it to oblige her and above all for Pim. 

Mummy has just said that if we ever get back home and are allowed to stay, we shall probably take in the Goslar baby, I think that's terrific; but I don't think we would ever let go of her again in that case. I have such a lovely book, it's called "Eva's youth." The Eva in it thought that children grow like apples on a tree and that the stork plucks them off when they are ripe and carries them to their mothers. But her girl friend's cat had kittens and they came out of the cat, then she thought that the cat lays eggs like a chicken, and then goes and sits on the brood, and that mothers who are having a baby go upstairs a few days earlier, lay an egg and sit on it, when the baby comes the mothers are still a bit weak from all the squatting. Eva wanted to have a baby too and so she took a woolen shawl, laid it on the ground so that the egg could drop into it and then squatted down and began to push. She tried clucking but no egg came out. In the end after all that long squatting something did come out of her but not an egg, a little sausage. Oh, Eva was so ashamed. And the maid thought she was sick. Funny isn't it. I take my leave with this dear Marianne, next time more from 

Anne Frank. 

P.S. Regards to Jaap. I like you. You get my meaning don't you? 
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	‘Dear Phienny, Daddy has asked Mr. Kleiman for a diary and Bep for a potty. Eh, I completely forgot, that I used to write in print all the time, I was so deep in thought.’ 26 October 1942, version a, omitted from the Diary 


	Published in Het Achterhuis: De Dagboek van Anne Frank, 1947
	The original text, from Het Achterhuis: De Dagboeken van Anne Frank, 1986

	

	


	Zaterdag, 3 October 1942 

Lieve Kitty, 

Gisteren was er weer een botsing. Moeder heeft verschrikkelijk opgespeeld en al mijn zonden aan pappie verteld. Ze begon erg te huilen, ik natuurlijk ook en ik had al zo'n vreselijke hoofdpijn. Ik heb pappie eindelijk verteld, dat ik veel meer van hem houd dan van moeder, daar heeft hij op gezegd dat dat wel weer over zal gaan, maar dat geloof ik niet. Ik moet me met geweld dwingen tegenover haar kalm te blijven. Pappie wou dat ik, als moeder zich niet lekker voelt of hoofdpijn heeft, maar eens uit mijzelf moest aanbieden om iets voor haar te doen, maar dat doe ik niet. 

Ik leer vlijtig Frans en ben La belle Nivernaise aan het lezen. 

Je Anne. 
	3 Oct. 1942. 

Beste Marianne, 

Ik heb al weer een paar dagen niet geschreven, maar er is intussen wel erg veel gebeurd. Gisteren hebben ze mij erg geplaagd omdat ik met mijnheer v. Pels samen op bed heb gelegen. Zo vroeg al, een schandaal!, en al dergelijke uitdrukkingen meer. Flauw natuurlijk. Ik zou nooit met mijnh. v. Pels willen slapen in de algemene betekenis natuurlijk. Vanochtend kwam Miep weer vertellen dat ze gisterenavond in Zuid weer huis aan huis Joden hebben weggehaald. Verschrikkelijk. Wie weet wie van onze kennissen er nog zijn. Een oude lamme vrouw zat bij Miep voor de deur want zij kon niet lopen en daar hebben die schoften een auto gehaald, daar moest dat arme mens in de kou voor de deur zitten (naar binnen mocht ze niet) en het schoot geweldig. Men kan het zich niet voorstellen hoe verschrikkelijk het is, ik ben maar wat blij, dat wij hier zijn. Gisteren was er weer een botsing en moeder heeft verschrikkelijk opgespeeld, zij heeft al mijn zonden aan papi verteld, en begon erg te huilen; ik natuurlijk ook, en ik had al zo'n verschrikkelijke hoofdpijn. Ik heb papi eindelijk verteld, dat ik veel meer van «hem» houdt, dan van moeder, daar heeft hij dan op gezegd, dat dat wel weer over zou gaan, maar dat geloof ik niet. Moeder kan ik nu eenmaal niet uitstaan, en ik moet me met geweld dwingen, haar niet altijd af te snauwen en kalm te blijven, ik zou haar wel zo in haar gezicht kunnen slaan, ik weet niet hoe het komt dat ik zo een verschrikkelijke antipathie tegen haar heb. Papa heeft gezegd dat als moeder zich niet lekker voelt of hoofdpijn heeft, maar eens van zelf moet aanbieden om iets voor haar te doen, maar dat doe ik niet want ik houd niet van haar, en dan voel ik dat ook niet. Bij vader zal ik het wel voelen, dat heb ik gemerkt bij zijn ziekte. Ik kan mij ook wel voorstellen dat moeder eens sterft, maar als papa eens doodgaat dat lijkt mij onoverkomelijk. Het is wel erg gemeen van mij, maar zo voel ik het. Ik hoop dat moeder «dit» en alles andere nooit zal lezen. 

Peter heeft nu weer iets aan zijn voet, die sul en ik merk best dat hij verliefd is. Gisteren heb ik de bonnen uit geknipt, dat is dan wel een leuk werkje. Aardappels schillen, doe ik nu ook vaak, maar pellen vind ik verschrikkelijk. Vandaag moet ik in het gebedboek lezen, ik begrijp niet dat moeder me daartoe wil dwingen, maar ik zal het maar doen voor haar plezier en vooral voor Pim. 

Moeder heeft net gezegd als wij thuis zouden zijn en daar zouden mogen blijven zouden we misschien baby Goslar op nemen, geweldig lijkt mij dat; maar ik denk we zouden haar niet meer laten gaan. Ik heb nu zo'n leuk boek «Eva's jeugd» heet het. Daar dacht Eva dat kinderen zoals appels aan een boom groeien, en dat de ooievaar ze er af plukt als ze rijp zijn en ze aan de moeders brengt. Maar de poes van haar vriendinnetje heeft jongen gekregen en die komen uit de poes, nu dacht ze dat de poes, net als een kip eieren legt, en daarop gaat zitten broeden, en de moeders die een kindje krijgen gaan ook een paar dagen van te voren naar boven en een ei leggen om er dan op te broeden, als het kindje er dan is zijn de moeders nog wat zwak van het lange hurken. Eva wilde nu ook een kindje hebben en toen nam ze een wollen sjaal, en legde die op de grond, daar zou het ei dan in vallen en toen ging ze op haar hurken zitten drukken. Ze begon erbij te tokken maar er kwam geen ei. Eindelijk na heel lang zitten, kwam er iets uit maar geen ei, een worstje. O, Eva schaamde zich zo. En de meid dacht dat ze ziek was. Grappig hè. Ik schei ermee uit lieve Marianne, een volgende keer meer van 

Anne Frank. 

P.S. Groeten aan Jaap. Ik hou van jou. Je snapt me wel hè? 


‘Na de bijbel is haar boek het best verkochte ter wereld’
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	The waxwork of Anne Frank at Madame Tussaud's, Amsterdam 

	
	Versions, Omissions, Translations

of the so-called Anne Frank Diary


	The original, taken from the Dagboeken van Anne Frank, 1986
	Almost literal translation into English
	Diary of Anne Frank, US, 1952; Anne Frank's Diary, UK, 1958
	US-English Critical Edition, 1989
	The Diary of a Young Girl: The Definitive Edition, UK, 1997

	20 June 1942 (Vb)

	Om nu het idee van de langverbeide vriendin nog te verhogen in m'n fantasie wil ik niet de feiten zo maar gewoon als eider ander in dit dagboek plaatsen, maar wil ik dit dagboek, de vriendin-zelf laten zijn en die vriendin heet Kitty.
	To now further raise the idea of the long-awaited friend in my fantasy I don't want to place facts in the diary just so ordinarily as anyone else, but I want this diary, itself to be my friend and this friend's called Kitty.
	In order to enhance in my mind's eye the picture of the friend for whom I have waited so long I don't want to set down a series of bald facts in a diary like most people do, but I want this diary itself to be my friend, and I shall call my friend Kitty.
	In order to enhance in my mind's eye the picture of the friend for whom I have waited so long I don't want to set down a series of bald facts in a diary like most people do, but I want this diary, itself to be my friend, and I shall call my friend Kitty.
	To enhance the image of this long-awaited friend in my imagination, I don't want to jot down the facts in this diary the way most people would do, but I want the diary to be my friend, and I'm going to call this friend Kitty.

	7 August 1943 (Vb)

	Een onderbreking in de Achterhuisschetsen.
	An interruption in the Achterhuis-sketches.
	omitted
	An interruption in my sketches of life in the ‘Secret Annexe.’
	omitted

	28 January 1944 (Vb)

	...welke blunders ze ook mogen slaan of welke onwaarheden en bedenksels uit de duim gezogen zijn.
	...whatever blunders they also may hit or whatever untruths and fabrications they cooked up.
	...however many blunders they make, and to whatever extent they allow their imaginations to run away with them.
	...however many blunders they make and to whatever extent their imaginations run away with them.
	...no matter how many blunders they make or how often they let their imaginations run away with them.

	29 March 1944 (Va+Vb)

	Stel je eens voor hoe interessant het zon zijn, als ik een roman van het Achterhuis uit zon geven
	Just imagine how interesting it would be if I were to publish a novel of the Achterhuis
	Just imagine how interesting it would be if I were to publish a romance of the ‘Secret Annexe’
	Just imagine how interesting it would be if I were to publish a romance of the ‘Secret Annexe’
	Just imagine how interesting it would be if I were to publish a novel about the Secret Annexe

	

	As featured in Table 13 of Anna Frank's Novel: The ‘Diary’ is a Fraud, but here with the original Dutch as well. In the entry of 28 January 1944 AMF was describing the accounts her housemates were giving to their protectors, and trying to say bedenksels ‘uit zijn duim zuigen’: to "dream/make sth. up, fabricate/manufacture/invent sth., spin a yarn, tell a tall tale" - Van Dale Woordenboek, N-E.


	Every word of the Anne Frank Diary is true. London Independent, 29 January 2000 


On the Book of Frank

SIMON SHEPPARD

	On the Book of Frank: The Truth about the Anne Frank Diary and the New Religion was published in 1996 and is now out of print. This was the first publication I wrote and published myself, and it received criticism at the time for being "unfocused." Considering that it encompassed the Anne Frank Diary, World War II and a summary of my conclusions regarding sexual politics in all of 42 pages, this is perhaps not surprising! 

Section 1 below concentrates on the Anne Frank Diary although, as the title suggests, this was a recurring theme throughout the booklet. It is quite a good summary save that quotes from the Diary relied on the English translations in the Critical Edition. Anna Frank's Novel: The ‘Diary’ is a Fraud is a more detailed and accurate analysis. 


	1. The True Nature of the Anne Frank Diary
There is an old riddle about a man walking along until he comes to a fork in the road. One path leads to Heaven and the other to Hell, and there is no way of knowing which is which except by asking at a nearby house. In the house live two identical sisters: one always lies, the other always tells the truth and, not knowing to which sister will answer the door, he is only allowed one question. What must he ask? 

The solution to the riddle is to pose the question "What would your sister say if I asked her which road I should take?" By this means a single negation is introduced into the reply, regardless of which sister answers the question; then the opposite path is taken. However this riddle and its solution is set in a simple, invariant world where one person always lies and one always tells the truth. Real life, of course, is not that simple. 

Several prominent Revisionists, notably Faurisson and Harwood, have been convinced that the diary of Annelies Maria Frank is a forgery and a number of assertions to this effect have appeared in Revisionist publications. Notwithstanding, these conclusions were reached before the original manuscript of the Diary was subjected to a thorough examination by the Dutch Forensic Laboratory, and it appears that they are mostly wrong. This critique of The Diary of Anne Frank began because it is important for historical accuracy, and the perceived legitimacy of other Revisionist claims, that the record be set straight. 

The Anne Frank Diary: The Critical Edition, published in Dutch in 1986 and in English in 1989, is a 719-page analysis of the extant diaries of Anne Frank. This Critical Edition is not really critical, but it does document every piece of her diary and includes details of its forensic examination. Following the publication of the complete manuscript and the forensic results it can no longer seriously be doubted that the Diary was by AMF's own hand. The only other scenario which can be envisaged is that someone (the most likely candidate being Otto Frank) planned to forge the diary several years in advance, going to such extreme lengths to establish its authenticity beforehand that he concocted an assortment of material in his daughter's name before the diary was started. That material, dating from 1936, was used during the forensic examination as independent 'standards' to verify the handwriting in the original manuscript of what is now known as The Diary of Anne Frank. The standards include cards and letters sent from Holland to Germany bearing the code-marks of the Nazi postal censor which are now known to philatelists. 

The original manuscript of the Diary is now in a bank vault, having been left to the Dutch State Institute for War Documentation (the Rijksinstituut voor Oorlogsdocumentatie, RIOD) by Otto Frank. The forensic examination which ensued was certainly overdue, and it is admitted in the Critical Edition that Mr. Frank did not go out of his way to rebut attacks on the authenticity of the Diary. His reticence to permit a full examination of the manuscript was ostensibly to protect certain individuals mentioned in it about whom personal comments were made, and there are a number of passages in which AMF details her early sexual development. Throughout his life Otto Frank insisted that the Diary contained the "essence" of his daughter's writing, and it might equally be argued that the essence of the charge against it - that it is fraudulent - is fair, because the Diary has been so exceptionally treated that it becomes debatable whether it is truly a diary at all. First and foremost, unlike a normal diary, its entries were rewritten up to two years after they were set down. Secondly, an unquantifiable proportion of its entries have little or no basis in reality. Here I shall show that the Diary is not a forgery, but that the fraudulence it contains is due to a cumulation of distortions started by Anne Frank herself. Indeed it is proposed that it is worse than a forgery by being a more convincing hoax: it is an unreliable mixture of fact and fantasy. 

Fundamentals
All of the eight Jews who went into hiding in Prinsengracht 263 on or after 6 July 1942 were émigrés from Germany who had been declared stateless: the Franks were from Frankfurt-am-Main, the van Pels family was from Osnabrück and Pfeffer was from Giessen. Like the majority of German and other European Jews, they had emigrated; Germany's Jewish population had fallen from 560,000 in 1933 until by the start of the war in 1939 only 200,000 remained. Holland, which had remained neutral during WWI, was considered to be safe from encroachment by the Nazis and its invasion on 10 May 1940 came as a complete surprise. 

The following statement may seem facile but it evidently sometimes needs expressing. War is not nice; it is the most austere of games and usually results in the violent death, injury, imprisonment and exodus of large numbers of people. Why then, with a total death-toll of WWII of around 42 million people, have the writings of Anne Frank claimed so much attention? The unique feature of Frank's writings and, discounting unbridled sentimentality, the likely answer to this question is that only her accounts were revised afterwards. 

The Form of the Original Manuscript
The idiosyncracy of AMF in alternating between writing in a flowing (cursive) script and sometimes reverting to child-like single characters (handprinting), upon which some critics of the Diary have made great play, seems to be a characteristic displayed by about one in six of her peer group (C. E. p. 105). In the original manuscript the handprinting is most prevalent in the earlier sections. Cursive writing and handprinting is sometimes combined on the same page. 


	Table 1. The Form of the Original Text 

	  
	Part 
	Form 
	Pages 
	When written 

	Version a 
	1.
1a.
2.
3.
	Autograph Album
(Unknown - lost)
Exercise Book
Exercise Book
	122

203
128
	12 Jun. 1942 - 5 Dec. 1942

22 Dec. 1943 - 17 Apr. 1944
17 Apr. 1944 - 1 Aug. 1944

	Version b 
	4 
	Loose Sheets 
	324 
	20 May 1944 - 1 Aug. 1944 

	Tales 
	5 
	'Verhaaltjesboek' 
	  
	  


	The complete manuscript consists of five extant parts although Part 5 is stories. We might regard Parts 1-3 as the real diary: this is denoted here, as in the Critical Edition, as 'Version a.' Part 4, the Loose Sheets and denoted 'Version b,' comprises the revision which was undertaken by AMF herself between 20 May 1944 and 1 August 1944, and this was the basis for the published Diary. 

It becomes clear from a study of the complete diary that many contemporaneous events mentioned in Version b do not appear in Version a. It seems likely therefore that Frank either maintained a separate diary or had access to old newspapers or other sources when Version b was prepared. It is inconceivable that she failed to write at all between 6 December 1942 and 21 December 1943, so it seems certain that at least one part of the original diary manuscript has been lost. 

Passages appended 'omitted' which follow are those which do not appear in versions of the Anne Frank Diary other than the Critical Edition. 

The True Nature of the Diary
Anne Frank was inspired to revise her writings by the words of Bolkestein, the Dutch Minister of Education, Art and Science in exile, in a BBC Radio broadcast of 28 March 1944. This is detailed in the diary entry for 29 March 1944 (Version a). On 20 May 1944 (Version a, omitted) the start of her book is recorded. It was to be called 'Het Achterhuis.' 

The following passage near the beginning of the Diary (20 June 1942, Version b) exemplifies its true nature: 

It's an odd idea for someone like me, to keep a diary; not only because I have never done so before, but because it seems to me that neither I - nor for that matter anyone else - will be interested in the unbosomings of a thirteen-year-old schoolgirl 

- because it was actually written within a few days of 20 May 1944 (at which time AMF was almost 15). Many other entries for this period are also new in Version b. Only after 29 March 1944 is the text unrevised. Gerrold van der Stroom, writing in the Critical Edition, stated that "she changed, rearranged, sometimes combined entries of various dates, expanded and abbreviated" (C. E. p. 61). H. J. J. Hardy of the Dutch Forensic Science Laboratory, again writing in the Critical Edition, reported that: 

Because changes with handwriting characteristics with time in Part 3 are paralleled by changes in the loose sheets, the latter, which were written at the same time, can be dated more closely. It appears that the writer worked more intensely on the loose sheets, particularly during the period between July 15 and August 1, 1944. During that period 162 pages were completed, or about 11 pages a day (C. E. p. 159). 

Two examples of the nature of AMF's first diary and its subsequent revision are given in Table 2. The original entry for 7 January 1944 smacks of wishful thinking, and is not credible. The second version is revised so that it falls into the realm of believability. Most of the characters were given pseudonyms in the published Diary according to a list drawn by AMF. A large proportion of what is written is so mundane that it is unworthy of further comment; passages such as "Title for this chapter: Ode to my fountain pen" (11 November 1943, Version b) and "When I had to use the potty I deliberately made a lot of noise in order to put a stop to his snoring" (8 March 1944, Version a, omitted). Still more is so private ("My vagina is getting wider all the time," 10 October 1942, Version a, omitted) that it would ordinarily be unworthy of publication. The actual content would be undeserving of interest had not doctored versions of the diary sold more than 15 million copies over five decades. 


	Table 2. Two Examples of the Diary's Revision by AMF 

	  
	Version a 
	Revised Version b 

	7 Jan. 1944 
	"I went to the Jewish Secondary School, almost all the boys in my class were keen on me." 
	"I went to the Jewish Secondary School. Lots of boys in our class were keen on me." 

	12 Jan. 1944 
	"Isn't it odd, Kitty, that sometimes I look at myself through someone else's eyes? I see quite keenly then how things are with Anne Frank." 
	"I have an odd way of sometimes, as it were, being able to see myself through someone else's eyes. Then I view the affairs of a certain Anne Robin at my ease, and browse through the pages of her life as if she were a stranger." 


	AMF variously addressed her diary entries to Conny, Emmy, Jetty, Kitty or Kit, Lou, Marianne, Phienny and Pop. Most or all of these names derive from a series of story books for young girls by Cissy van Marxfeldt (C. E. p. 223), but all entries in the published version are to Kitty. For Frank the diary appears to have served the simultaneous roles of confidante, confessional, been a vehicle for her pubescent concerns and fantasies ("Countless admirers and lovable young men have begged for my favours" 12 March 1944, Version a, omitted) as well as substituted for the circle of friends from which she had been separated. This is plain from a number of entries, and several clearly indicate that her journal (as opposed to the tales) was not initially intended for publication. Indeed, she asked her protectors several times for a book with a lock. "Dear Diary, I hope no-one will ever read you except my dear sweet husband" she wrote in one entry (28 September 1942, Version a, omitted) and, in another, "Dear Kitty... I must tell someone, and you are the best one to tell, as I know that come what may you always keep a secret" (6 January 1944, Version a). 

In one passage (7 August 1943, Version b, omitted), duplicated in the 'Verhaaltjesboek' (Tales), "Kitty is the girl next door" and later, in what is supposed to be reality, the dialogue became two-way: "Dear Kitty, you asked me what my hobbies and interests were" (6 April 1944, Version a). 


	Table 3. Some of the Names used in the Anne Frank Diary 

	Albert Dussel 
	Pseudonym for Freidrich 'Fritz' Pfeffer 

	Anne Robin 
	Anne Frank 

	Bep 
	Nickname for Elisabeth van Wijk-Voskuijl 

	Mrs. Beverbruck 
	Derogative nickname for Mrs. Auguste van Pels 

	Boche 
	A cat 

	van Daan 
	Pseudonym for the van Pels family 

	Elli 
	Nickname for Elisabeth van Wijk-Voskuijl 

	Gusti 
	Nickname for Mrs. Auguste van Pels 

	Hello 
	Nickname for Helmuth Silberberg 

	Henk 
	Pseudonym for Mr. Jan Gies 

	Kerli 
	Nickname for Mrs. Auguste van Pels 

	Kitty 
	The imaginary addressee of the diary. The names Conny, Emmy, Jetty, Jet, Jettje, Kitty, Kit, Lou, Loutje, Marianne, Marjan, Phienny, Phien, Pien Pop and Poppie were also used 

	Koophuis 
	Pseudonym for Johannes Kleiman 

	Kraler 
	Pseudonym for Victor Kugler 

	Lotje 
	Nickname for Charlotte Kaletta 

	Mansa 
	Nickname for Mrs. Edith Frank 

	Miep van Santen 
	Pseudonym for Hermine Gies-Santrouschitz 

	Moortje 
	A cat 

	Mouschi 
	A cat 

	Petel 
	Nickname for Peter van Pels 

	Pim 
	Nickname for Mr. Otto Frank 

	Putti 
	Nickname for Mr. Hermann van Pels 

	Tommy 
	A cat 

	Vossen 
	Pseudonym for Mr. Voskuijl 


	The commentators in the Critical Edition repeatedly remark on the fluency of much of the writing: a large proportion of it was "penned with great ease," "penned with fluency" and so forth. It seems that much of the time Frank was writing quickly and uncritically. Only slightly less objectively we might surmise that Frank was writing the first thing that came into her head. Half a dozen entries in the published Diary are taken from the 'Verhaaltjesboek' and so are particularly indistinguishable from fiction. For Annelies Frank the boundary between reality and fantasy was blurred, probably especially so near the end of the period in hiding. 


	Table 4. Chronology Surrounding the Anne Frank Diary 

	12 Jun. 1929 
	Annelies Maria Frank born in Frankfurt, Germany 

	Mar. 1934 
	Frank family finish moving to Amsterdam 

	6 Jul. 1942 
	Frank family go into hiding 

	16 Nov. 1942 
	Dentist Pfeffer joins group in hiding 

	4 Aug. 1944 
	Eight in hiding arrested, sent to Westerbork 

	3 Sept. 1944 
	Eight began their deportation to Auschwitz 

	5-6 Sept. 1944 
	Eight arrived at Auschwitz 

	Oct. 1944 
	AMF and MF moved to Bergen-Belsen 

	16 Jan. 1945 
	Peter van Pels transferred from Auschwitz to Mauthausen 

	27 Jan. 1945 
	Auschwitz liberated by Russians; Otto Frank in hospital 

	5 Mar. 1945 
	Otto Frank began journey back to Amsterdam 

	9 Apr. 1945 
	Auguste van Pels arrived at Theresienstadt 

	3 Jun. 1945 
	Otto Frank returned to Amsterdam 

	3 Apr. 1946 
	Het Parool article by Jan Romein 

	1947 
	Publication of Typescript II as Achterhuis: Dagboekbrieven 

	1950 
	Publication of Typescript II as Das Tagebuch 

	1950 
	Publication of Het Achterhuis as Le Journal 

	1951 
	Publication of Diary of a Young Girl in the UK and US 

	1957 
	Establishment of the Anne Frank Foundation 

	1960 
	Anne Frank House opened as a museum 


	Throughout the Diary there are references to the need for silence within the annexe and the factory to which they had access when the staff were absent. (AMF refers to "the house" but in fact it was a factory, to which they usually had unrestricted access during lunchtimes and evenings.) The celebrated vacuum cleaner was in daily use until it broke down, presumably permanently this time, on 3 November 1943 (Version b, omitted). In reality it is likely that the professed need for silence was a device used by the elders of the household to suppress AMF's incessant chatter: at one point she refers to herself in the third person as "Miss Quack-Quack" (29 September 1942, Version b). Supposedly in trouble at school for being an "incurable chatterbox" she had to write an essay on the theme, and "My arguments were that talking is a feminine characteristic and that I would do my best to keep it under control, but I should never be cured, for my mother talked as much as I, probably more, and what can one do about inherited qualities?" (21 June 1942, Version b). 

Not only does the following passage conflict with the supposed need for quiet, it is a striking example of aberrant behaviour within the annexe: 

I have a brand new prescription against gunfire: during particularly loud bangs hasten to the nearest wooden stairs, run up and down a few times and make sure that you fall gently downstairs at least once. What with the scratches and the noise of the running and falling, you are too busy to listen to the gunfire let alone worry about it. The writer of these lines has certainly used this ideal recipe with success! (2 June 1944, Version a, omitted). 

It also becomes clear from a study of the complete diary that many people knew of the existence of the group in hiding, not least of whom were the vegetable suppliers (29 March 1944, Version a, omitted). The harbouring of Jews by the Dutch during this period was commonplace. The 'spy plot' involving Pfeffer detailed in the entry of 13 November 1942 (Version a, omitted) is ludicrous and plain childish fantasy, and is yet another passage which does not appear in the published Diary. On 9 April 1944 (Version a, passage omitted) Frank inexplicably wrote that fifteen people were hiding in the premises. That Frank was suffering some form of mental derangement resulting from her extended confinement within Prinsengracht 263 seems very likely. By 28 January 1944 (Version b) Frank reports that her cohabitants' "imaginations run away with them," but she evidently excludes herself from this observation. 

Instances where entries were written on successive pages but with incongruous dates are interspersed throughout the original manuscript, as are duplicate entries bearing different dates. Several entries were pasted into the diary at a later date. At least one entry date was crossed out, rewritten, and then crossed out again. The Version b entry for 30 October 1943 appears in the published Diary dated 7 November 1942, and this is one instance of date changing which cannot be attributed to AMF herself. 

Another example of the latitude AMF allowed herself is provided by the entry of 10 November 1942 (Version a). In it she described Peter's birthday two days previously and the landing of Allied troops in North Africa. In her revised version however (9 November 1942, Version b) she added comments made in a speech at the time by Churchill, changed the source of her information ("happened to hear on the radio" to "Mr. v. P... announced that...") and further changed the date of her entry to that of the preceding day. This latter alteration results in the report of Churchill's speech appearing in The Diary of Anne Frank the day before it was actually made. 

After a thorough, critical study of the Diary, one is struck above all by the extraordinary slipperyness of it. One cannot say that it is an outright hoax, but seemingly at every stage in its production creeping distortion and insidious untruth has been introduced. The corruption is of a nature which defies description in a few words, and it has taken many hours of patient research to get to the bottom of it. Those passages which are pure fantasy were omitted from the published Diary and these were only revealed with the publication of the complete diaries in the Critical Edition. Even the translation of the Diary into English is complaisant: its original title, 'Het Achterhuis,' is literally 'The Behind House' or 'The Rear Annexe' but this is now translated as 'The Secret Annexe' (Het Geheim Achterhuis). When AMF states in the entry of 29 March 1944 (Version a) that she is thinking of producing a novel of that name, the Dutch for 'a novel,' een roman, is suddenly, and incorrectly, translated as "a romance." 

In summary, the published Diary of Anne Frank, covering the period 12 June 1942 to 1 August 1944, was actually written between 20 May 1944 and 1 August 1944. It consists of a substantially revised compilation of her earlier diary and was described by her as a novel. 


On the Book of Frank

SIMON SHEPPARD

	2. A Revisionist Appraisal of WWII

Since so much work in this area has already been done, this section will borrow from the existing literature. Particular use will be made of the seminal work by Dr. A. R. Butz, The Hoax of the Twentieth Century. For convenience the references given will be to page numbers of the second edition of that work; readers who wish to pursue them will find that Butz provides ample references to his original sources. 

The orthodox historical view referred to here is that portrayed in a figure in Nazi Mass Murder: a Documentary History of the Use of Poison Gas by Eugen Kogon et al., published in German in 1983 and in English in 1994. The roles of the camps, according to that work, were as follows: 

· Euthanasia institutes: Brandenburg (Germany), Bernburg (Germany), Grafenek (Germany), Hadamar (Germany), Hartheim (Austria) and Sonnenstein (Germany). 

· Extermination camps: Belzec (Poland), Kulmhof (Poland), Sobibor (Poland) and Treblinka (Poland). 

· Concentration and extermination camps: Auschwitz (Poland) and Majdanek (Poland). 

This scenario is substantially in agreement with that presented by Keegan (pp. 286-288) and Messenger (p. 97). These authors are both historians at Sandhurst Military College. Specifically, the view of contemporary historians is that no gas chambers existed on German soil. 

The eight Jews in hiding in Prinsengracht 263 were arrested on 4 August 1944 by an SS Oberscharführer and three Dutch Police helpers (Het Achterhuis, Bakker edition p. 299). Despite the major role of the two women, Elisabeth van Wijk-Voskuijl and Hermine Gies-Santrouschitz in supporting the group in hiding, when the eight were discovered only two men, Kleiman and Kugler, were taken into custody for harbouring them. The sick Kleiman was released on 18 September 1944 and Kugler escaped on 28 March 1945 during a march towards Germany when his convoy came under fire from British Spitfires. 

The fate of this group of eight Jews provides a small, although perhaps typical, sample which may illustrate the fate of the large numbers of people (the criminals, gypsies, communists and homosexuals, of which the Jews were just a proportion) who were taken into custody by the Germans. It is often casually asserted that all of these groups were gassed. Special efforts have been made to trace this group of eight in particular and so a greater than usual opportunity for determining their fates should exist. 

On their arrest the eight were moved initially to the Westerbork transit camp in the north-east of Holland and a month later they were transferred to Auschwitz. There Otto Frank, his wife and Mr. van Pels remained but the other five were disseminated to other camps. Auguste van Pels was transferred (via Bergen-Belsen and Buchenwald) to Theresienstadt (Czechoslovakia), a 'model camp' with relatively good conditions normally reserved for aged German Jews; her son went to Mauthausen in Austria. Pfeffer was transferred to Neuengamme via either Buchenwald or Sachsenhausen. Anne and her elder sister Margot were moved to Bergen-Belsen at the end of October 1944. 

At the end of February or the beginning of March Margot Frank, followed a few days later by Anne, succumbed to an epidemic of typhus "in which thousands of the inmates died" (Het Achterhuis, Bakker p. 300). The same source states that their mother, Mrs. Edith Frank-Holländer, died in Auschwitz from hunger and exhaustion. It is tempting to accept Faurisson's account that she died of typhus, on the grounds that he interviewed Otto Frank, who would be likely to know the fate of his wife who was in the same camp, but Faurisson's earlier monograph appears to be so biased and unreliable that it is considered prudent to disregard it altogether - it is quite conceivable that Faurisson merely presumed that Mrs. Frank died from typhus and failed to check. One account has suggested that Peter van Pels died during the evacuation march from Auschwitz to Mauthausen, but there seems to be agreement as to the date of his death. 


	Table 5. The Fate of the Eight 

	  
	Date of death 
	Place of death 
	Cause 

	Anne Frank 
	Feb.-Mar. 1945 
	Bergen-Belsen 
	typhus 

	Margot Frank 
	Feb.-Mar. 1945 
	Bergen-Belsen 
	typhus 

	Mrs. Edith Frank-Holländer 
	6 Jan. 1945 
	Auschwitz 
	starvation 

	Mr. Otto Frank 
	20 Aug. 1980 
	Basel 
	old age 

	Mr. Hermann van Pels 
	Oct.-Nov. 1944 
	Auschwitz 
	unknown 

	Mrs. August van Pels 
	unknown 
	Theresienstadt 
	unknown 

	Peter van Pels 
	5 May 1945 
	Mauthausen 
	unknown 

	Dr. Freidrich Pfeffer 
	20 Dec. 1944 
	Neuengamme 
	unknown 


	The only one of the group for whom any claim has been made of gassing is Mr. Hermann van Pels who, according to Netherlands Red Cross dossier 103586, was gassed immediately on his arrival at Auschwitz on 5-6 September. According to the commentary in the recent Bakker edition of Het Achterhuis however Otto Frank reported that he was still alive some weeks after this date and it is proposed that he died sometime in October or November 1944. Red Cross documents are not accessible to the public and so cannot be inspected, and in this case we may fairly conclude that the information contained within it must have been taken from another, less reliable source. 

Otto Frank was the only one of the eight to survive and return to Amsterdam, at which point he began compiling his daughter's writings into a book. When Russian forces arrived at Auschwitz on 27 January 1945 Mr. Frank was being treated for typhus in the camp hospital and he did not leave there until 5 March 1945. 

Since we know that no gas chambers existed at Bergen-Belsen, Mauthausen, Neuengamme and Theresienstadt, we can confidently say that none of the four remaining members of this group of eight were gassed. How then did they die? According to the International Committee of the Red Cross, "in the chaotic condition of Germany after the invasion during the final months of the war, the camps received no food supplies at all and starvation claimed an increasing number of victims" (Report of the ICRC, vol. III, p. 83). The Allies, despite protestations from the ICRC, had been continually bombarding the supply lines to the camps, exacerbating the already severe conditions which were prevalent near the end of the war. The ICRC had protested as early as 15 March 1944 about "the barbarous aerial warfare" (Inter Arma Caritas p. 78). Many tens of thousands of camp internees died, especially in the winter and spring of 1945, during the unimaginable turmoil which prevailed in the closing stages of the war. Epidemics of typhus in the camps were common. 

Publication of the Anne Frank Diary
Finding a publisher for Het Achterhuis after the war was initially difficult and probably most instrumental in its publication was a Dutchwoman, Anne Romein-Verschoor, whom Otto Frank went to see. Anne Romein-Verschoor and her husband Jan Romein were involved in "the left-wing intellectual journal" De Nieuwe Stem in which the first extracts of the diary were published, and Anne Romein-Verschoor went on to provide a foreword for the first editions of the Diary. An article written by Jan Romein appeared in the national Dutch newspaper Het Parool on 3 April 1946 directly led to its publication (as Het Achterhuis: Dagboekbrieven) in 1947: 

By chance a diary written during the war years has come into my possession. The Netherlands State Institute for War Documentation already holds some two hundred similar diaries, but... having arrived here at the age of four from Germany she [Anne Frank] was able within ten years to write enviably pure and simple Dutch. 

This article was the first of several to remark on the fluency of the Dutch used by AMF, but these commentators were almost certainly unaware that they were viewing typescripts which had been revised several times, during which numerous German expressions had been removed (C. E. p. 67). Ignoring the revision undertaken by Anne Frank herself, there were two subsequent drafts by or under the auspices of Otto Frank, and that there was a further intermediate typescript ('Typescript Ia') is almost certain (C. E. p. 64). Thus by the time Typescript II was submitted to the first Dutch publisher the text had been revised at least three times. The claim made by Otto Frank that he did not intend to publish the diary is not credible. In 1950 Le Journal de Anne Frank and Das Tagebuch der Anne Frank were published and in 1951 it appeared in Britain and America as The Diary of a Young Girl. 

Orthodox and Unorthodox History
An essential consideration in any historical analysis is that the victors have the privilege of writing history. "Who controls the past, controls the future: who controls the present, controls the past" wrote George Orwell in Nineteen Eighty-Four. H. E. Barnes was more specific: "Truth is the first war casualty." The greatest of the spoils of war is the future. 

There are two sides not only to every argument but also to every historical account. We might take as an example the varying perspectives of the first use of the Atom bomb and the origins of the Cold War. The official explanation for the use of the A-bomb on Japan was that it served to bring about a speedy end to the war and to save the lives of up to a million American servicemen who might otherwise have fallen had an invasion of Japan been necessary. The scenario which has developed as secret wartime documents, diaries and other material has become available is rather different. Indeed this is the essential difference between historical or scientific opinion and religious dogma: the former must be amenable to change as new evidence becomes available, while the latter is immutable. 

At the Potsdam Conference, which was the culmination of several meetings of the Big Three, the territorial spoils of war were about to be shared. Stalin had his eyes on the Far East; during the Teheran Conference at the end of 1943 Stalin had secretly committed Russia to entering the war against Japan within three months of Germany's surrender, and a number of Eastern territories had been promised to him. A show of strength was necessary to make him curtail his ambitions. As Viscount Alanbrooke, then General Sir Alan Brooke, Churchill's Commander In Chief of General Staff, entered in his diary on 23 July 1945: "It was now no longer necessary for the Russians to come into the Japanese war; the new explosive alone was sufficient to settle the matter. Furthermore, we now had something in our hands which would redress the balance with the Russians" (Bryant p. 477). Truman, preceded by Roosevelt, probably had a long-standing intent to use the new weapon on Japan, if only to test it on a real target. This is certainly credible if one considers American public opinion at that time. Moreover, Japan had made repeated diplomatic attempts to negotiate a face-saving end to the war via the USSR, with which she had signed a peace treaty on 13 April 1941. Such diplomatic approaches could not be ignored indefinitely; the opportunity to test the new weapon in earnest were diminishing rapidly. 


	Table 6. Significant Dates in 1945 

	4-11 February 
	Yalta Conference 

	12 April 
	Sudden death of Roosevelt, succession of Truman 

	2 May 
	Fall and surrender of Berlin 

	16 July 
	First practical test of the A-bomb at Alamogordo, NM 

	17 July 
	Start of Potsdam Conference 

	25 July 
	Truman informed Stalin of the new weapon (he knew already) 

	26 July 
	Proclamation to Japan: "Unconditional surrender or destruction" 

	26 July 
	Atlee succeeded Churchill following a British General Election 

	2 August 
	End of Potsdam Conference 

	6 August 
	Bombing of Hiroshima 

	8 August 
	USSR declared war on Japan 

	9 August 
	Bombing of Nagasaki (two further bombs were scheduled) 

	9 August 
	Russian troops invaded Manchuria 

	10 August 
	Japan transmitted a surrender message to the US 

	20 August 
	Final Japanese collapse to Soviet troops in North Korea 

	31 October 
	Jewish attacks on the British in Palestine began 


	When at the Potsdam Conference Truman told Churchill that the new weapon had been tested, Churchill enthused to Alanbrooke about using it not on the Japanese but on the Russians, then an ally: 

[Churchill] was letting himself be carried away... He was already seeing himself capable of eliminating all the Russian centres of industry and population without taking into account any of the connected problems, such as delivery of the bomb, production of bombs, possibility of Russians also possessing such bombs, etc. He had at once painted a wonderful picture of himself as the sole possessor of these bombs and capable of dumping them where he wished, thus all-powerful and capable of dictating to Stalin! (Bryant p. 478). 

The orthodox view of the Second World War is familiar. Many will have had it recounted on their mother's knee: Hitler was a despot who planned and executed the massacre of Jews and others in his diabolical gas chambers and who was only thwarted in his designs for world domination by the combined efforts of Churchill, Roosevelt and 'Uncle Joe,' who subsequently turned bad. As we have seen, this scenario was vacuous even to the major players at the time. The rival argument regarding the Atom bomb is readily available, as is the theory that Roosevelt knew of the impending attack on Pearl Harbour. In both these cases the essential views and facts are presented even in the moderate historical accounts quoted here. As Butz notes in his foreword of Hoax however, no alternate perspective on the basic premise of WWII, and the Holocaust in particular, is ever entertained. This enigma, which Butz has been unable to resolve, is one which this author is privileged to be able to answer, albeit here in a severely abridged form. Firstly however, some groundwork must be laid; the reader, especially if uninitiated in this regard, is invited to share in another perspective. 

No excuses are made here for the Aüslander Hitler, who may have laid claim as a leader of Austria but never Germany, but it can certainly be argued that he would have been preferable to Stalin as an ally. In his forced collectivization, persecution of the kulaks and merciless suppression of political opposition Stalin was responsible for unspeakable atrocities and innumerable killings of his own countrymen, in peacetime, even before the war began. Keegan (p. 455) concludes that "Stalin, even more than Hitler, was committed to a view of war as a political event." 

In this alternative scenario, the unforgivable crime of the Germans was losing a war against the most grotesque of alliances. Recall, again, that war is not nice; the very notion of 'war crimes' is a tenuous one for, as Machiavelli astutely observed, the side which keeps the Rules of War (whatever they might be) loses. The predominant alliance in WWII was between a ruthless dictator and mass murderer, a half-American grown-up spoiled brat who bankrupted the then still mighty British Empire for his own aggrandizement and an invalid President with a puerile world view who compulsively vacillated and refused to write anything down (Loewenheim et al. pp. xv-xvi; Taylor pp. 128-156). It seems that if Roosevelt had any deliberate policy at all, it was to damage Britain: 

In his private talks with Stalin he deliberately gave the latter the impression that, with its egalitarian and forward-looking outlook, America was better able to understand Russian needs than the conservative imperialist Power that had maintained the balance of world affairs in the past. The American-Russian axis he sought to create in the political sphere was to be reflected in the military (Bryant p. 93). 

Taylor has stated this view more directly: "Although the Americans supplied the weapons of war, they also squeezed Great Britain dry economically, and that was Roosevelt's deliberate policy" (Taylor p. 137). 

By his single-minded objective of defeating Hitler at any cost, Churchill has been described as the man who destroyed two empires, the British and the German. Numerous opportunities for a peace agreement were available and a lasting peace treaty could have been struck between Churchill and Hitler in 1942 (Baudot et al. pp. 372-382; see also Ponting, 1940: Myth and Reality). Any such possibility probably disappeared entirely when on 24 January 1943 (at the Casablanca Conference) Roosevelt declared that the goal of the war was "unconditional surrender." 

The consistent impression which is drawn from a review of the literature is of Stalin playing Churchill, Roosevelt and Hitler off against each other for his own ends. Commenting on the 1943 Teheran Conference, which was probably formative of the subsequent relationship between Stalin, Roosevelt and Churchill, Alanbrooke remarked: 

During this meeting and all the subsequent ones which we had with Stalin, I rapidly grew to appreciate the fact that he had a military brain of the very highest calibre. Never once in any of his statements did he make any strategic error, nor did he ever fail to appreciate all the implications of a situation with a quick and unerring eye. In this respect he stood out compared with his two colleagues. 

At the time of the Conference Alanbrooke wrote (Bryant pp. 90-91): 

His [Stalin's] political and military requirements could now be best met by the greatest squandering of British and American lives in the French Theatre. We were reaching a very dangerous point where his shrewdness, assisted by American short-sightedness, might lead us anywhere. 

At Yalta "Roosevelt and Stalin appeared at times to combine against Churchill, especially over their refusal to tie down the future of post-war Europe in detail... The truth was that the USA and USSR were now super-powers, but Britain, drained by five and a half years of war, was not" (Messenger p. 215). Roosevelt has escaped a great deal of criticism because while Churchill insisted that only written orders be obeyed, Roosevelt refused to commit anything to paper. For this and other reasons "the British military leadership has been far more critical of Churchill's conduct of the war than their American counterparts have been of Roosevelt's" (Loewenheim et al. pp. 43-44). 

As far as any concrete achievement of the war is concerned, within six months of the final Nazi downfall the semi-official Zionist militia Haganah had engaged the British, who were administering the new 'Jewish National Home' under a League of Nations Mandate and attempting to keep the peace by holding Jewish immigration at its 1939 level. 

In October 1945 Haganah initiated a sabotage campaign, setting off 500 explosions, and by the spring of 1946, when 80,000 British troops were deployed in Palestine, the territory trembled on the brink of open insurrection, which threatened to become a communal war should the Palestine Arabs judge that the British intended to permit large-scale Jewish immigration or abandon the Mandate (Keegan pp. 588-589). 

The British, who had fought tenaciously against the Jews' persecutors, were turned upon by the very race they had supposedly rescued, and placed into a completely impossible position. 

Revisionist Fundamentals
Some of the omissions and contradictions in the conventional historical view are breathtaking in their simplicity. An evident problem with the orthodox notion of a German intent to exterminate Jews and other 'undesirables' en masse is that if Auschwitz was an extermination centre, it was clearly nonsensical to move internees from there to other camps and even to hospitalize prisoners who had succumbed during the epidemics of typhus, as is known to have taken place with at least one member of the group of eight which is our sample. One possible explanation for Otto Frank's sparing could be his former status as a reserve Lieutenant in the German Army in the First World War, which would ordinarily have qualified him for some leniency, but there are Jews without such qualifications who also survived. 

The Holocaust was not a significant feature of the war, but became so afterward. As several Revisionist scholars have admitted, a claim that no mass murders whatever took place throughout the Axis territories of WWII is impossible to sustain: it only needs a single maverick like Koch (the 'Butcher of Buchenwald' who was executed by his SS comrades for corruption and maltreatment of prisoners) to demolish that theory. The essential Revisionist claim is that no deliberate intention existed to exterminate Jews or indeed any other group. The Germans institutionalize and document everything and, as is well-known, no documentary evidence of such an intention exists. As Butz stated on page 10 of his book, if we neglect political rhetoric, wartime propaganda, and the post-war trials and their subsequent elaboration, reliable evidence of a German policy to slaughter Jews is distinctly lacking. Indeed, murdering Jews continued to be illegal throughout the period of the war (Butz p. 187). The intended purpose of the camps was as work or transit camps, for the official policy of the National Socialists towards the Jews was expulsion. 

Revisionists have at least the work of Paul Rassinier to provide an accurate portrayal of the conditions, the mixed population and the power structures within the German camps. Rassinier was a communist and member of the French Resistance who was interned in several camps, notably Buchenwald. Butz reports that Rassinier's work contains demographic errors, and his certainty of dates borders on the suspicious, but he unfailingly recounts incidents which might be considered prejudicial to his case and this is sufficient to inspire confidence in his integrity. His work is strongly recommended; the most striking revelation is that many of the atrocities which took place within the camps were committed by the inmates themselves. Rassinier makes enlightening comparisons with the French civilian prisons of the era and this might also provide a warning to those who insist on judging historical events against contemporary values. 

The mayhem which ensued when the Allies took command of the camps and the atrocities which were committed by the Allied forces following their victory are topics which are little documented in mainstream literature. Some of the internees were common criminals and others were carrying typhus. Fatalities from disease and other deprivations continued for several months after the takeover of the camps by the Allies. The following account is by the American historian Harold Zink, taken from The Hoax of the Twentieth Century: 

They not only consumed large quantities of food, but they exhibited many of the psychoneurotic traits which must be expected from people who have undergone the tribulations that many of the displaced persons suffered. It was commonplace for them to allege that they were not receiving the consideration that they deserved from the Allied authorities. They often objected to the camps in which they were living, claiming that it reflected on their position to be lodged in camps. Some urged that the best German houses be cleared of their occupants and placed at the disposal of the displaced persons, especially the Jews. They refused to assist in some instances in keeping their quarters reasonably habitable, taking the position that it was not their responsibility... Moreover, the displaced persons continued their underground war with the German population, despite all their promises and the efforts exerted by UNRRA and the American Army personnel. Forages into the countryside never ceased; some displaced persons took advantage of every opportunity to pick a quarrel with the Germans. With German property looted, German lives lost, and German women raped almost every day by the displaced persons, widespread resentment developed among the populace, especially when they could not defend themselves against the fire-arms which the displaced persons managed to obtain (Butz p. 227). 

This, however, is almost as nothing compared to the revelations made by James Bacque in Other Losses. It transpires that a million Germans were deliberately starved to death after the war had ended. 

The War Crimes Trials
In September 1943 Roosevelt and Churchill approved a plan to summarily execute certain captured Nazi leaders without trial, a scheme especially favoured by Churchill. A couple of months later, at the Teheran Conference, there was "a stormy private dinner given... by Stalin to the President and Prime Minister at which, horrified by his host's announcement that he proposed to shoot the entire German General Staff after the war, Churchill temporarily left the room in indignation" (Bryant p. 97). However by Yalta "Stalin was in favour of a trial of major war criminals provided that it was not 'too judicial'" and by the time of the Potsdam Conference agreement had been reached to hold them. 

The United Nations War Crimes Commission was formed two years before the institution of the UN Charter, so it can accurately be stated that the UN was founded on these war crimes trials. The original criterion for membership of the UN was that member states had to have declared war against the Axis powers (Messenger pp. 244, 246). 


	Table 7. Dates of the Major War Crimes Trials 

	International Military Tribunal 
	14 November 1945 - 10 October 1946 

	Tokyo International War Crimes Trial 
	3 June 1946 - 4 November 1948 

	Nuremberg Military Tribunal 
	October 1946 - April 1949 


	The only apparent concession to Revisionist thought in the mainstream literature is to mention the doubtful legality of these trials. According to Butz (p. 23) 420 death sentences were passed during the German trials. According to Keegan (p. 590) 900 Japanese were executed following the Tokyo trials, mainly for maltreatment of prisoners of war. However only the German trials will be discussed here, and because of their extremity particular attention will be paid to the Dachau Trials. 

The most appalling physical and psychological torture was employed in the prepatory stages of these particular trials to extract confessions from the staffs of the Buchenwald, Dachau and Flossenbürg camps. Some of the staff of the Dachau camp had stayed behind on the promise by an ICRC delegate of an orderly changeover. Quoting another passage directly from Hoax: 

The entire repertoire of third degree methods was enacted at Dachau: beatings and brutal kicking, to the point of ruining testicles in 137 cases, knocking out teeth, starvation, solitary confinement, torture with burning splinters, and impersonation of priests in order to encouraging prisoners to 'confess.' Low rank prisoners were assured that convictions were being sought only against higher ranking officers, and that they had absolutely nothing to lose by cooperating and making the desired statements. Such 'evidence' was then used against them when they joined their superiors in the dock. The latter, on the other hand, had been told that by 'confessing' they had taken all responsibility onto themselves, thereby shielding their men from trial. A favourite stratagem, when a prisoner refused to cooperate, was to arrange a mock trial. The prisoner was led into a room in which civilian investigators, dressed in US Army uniforms, were seated around a black table with a crucifix in the center, with two small candles providing the only light. This 'court' then proceeded to hold a sham trial, at the conclusion of which a sham death sentence was passed. The 'condemned' prisoner was later promised that, if he cooperated with the prosecutors in giving evidence, he would be reprieved. Sometimes interrogators threatened to turn prisoners over to the Russians... (Butz pp. 22-23). 

At one point during the Dachau Trials a German defendant Menzel was being tried for murdering a Jew called Einstein. When the dead Einstein's brother was called as a witness by prosecutor Kirschbaum, Menzel was able to point out that the Einstein who was allegedly murdered was actually sitting in court. Kirschbaum rounded on his witness and said: "How can we bring this pig to the gallows, if you are so stupid as to bring your brother into court?" (Butz p. 24). 

By the time of the International and Nuremberg Military Tribunals the perverted legal procedures, forced and dishonest submissions and downright immorality surrounding these so-called trials had become institutionalized. The following extracts from the "Charter of the International Military Tribunal," defining the terms under which it and the following Nuremburg Tribunals were to operate, are sufficient to demonstrate that by no stretch of the imagination can they be considered a proper legal process. 

Article 19. The Tribunal shall not be bound by technical rules of evidence. It shall adopt and apply to the greatest possible extent expeditious and non-technical procedure, and shall admit any evidence which it deems to have probative value... 

Article 21. The Tribunal shall not require proof of facts of common knowledge but shall take judicial notice thereof... 

The Tribunals had discarded all legal precedent and virtually all inhibitions as far as proper legal procedures were concerned. Although there was sanctimonious talk of having "a fair trial," practically anyone could take the witness stand and say almost anything they liked. 

Some examples can be given which typify the attitude and procedures of the Tribunals. At the IMT one defendant, Gustav Krupp, was the elder of a family which ran Fried. Krupp A. G., a large corporation concerned with naval shipbuilding, armament supply and mining. The elder Krupp was charged, amongst other things, with using slave labour. When it became clear that Gustav Krupp was too old and sick to stand trial, an attempt was made by the prosecution to substitute his son Alfried in his place (IMT vol. I p. 84 & Butz pp. 21-22). This failed, and later at the NMT Alfried Krupp and another eleven leading company personnel were tried. Half-way through the 11-month trial, on 16 January 1948, the entire defence counsel walked out of the court in disgust, although the trial of the defendants apparently continued regardless. The members for the defence were eventually marshalled and six leading defence counsel were themselves taken into custody for contempt of court. A full account of this hilarious debacle is contained in NMT vol. XV pp. 996-1013. The immediately preceding transcript (pp. 991-995) makes the allegation that forged documents were submitted to the Tribunals entirely believable. 

One aspect of the Tribunals which is sometimes neglected by Revisionists however is the activities of doctors and the advantage which was taken of the captive population in some of the camps to conduct medical and other trials. Many of the subjects were given extra rations to compensate for their additional ordeal, but there are reports of some of them rebelling, saying that they would rather be shot than continue being subjected to experiments. 

The example is given of Prof. Dr. Schiller who, with laudable intentions, attempted to perfect the immunization and treatment of malaria by experimentally infecting around 1000 internees with a benign strain of malaria: "Experimental infections of human beings with malaria tertiana (mild tertian malaria) have proved to be harmless and have very frequently been carried out on voluntary experimental subjects." Moreover, it was said to be impossible to maintain stocks of the malaria parasite without involving man. Schiller was not a hypocrite; although his trial subjects were undoubtedly involuntary he had contracted the disease himself some years previously and so was not requiring them to undergo something he had not endured himself. "Schilling only accepted this commission at Dachau because the League of Nations, of which he was a member, told him of the importance of curing the seventeen million known cases of malaria." Schiller could not refuse patients and worked under orders from Himmler, and during his meeting with Himmler "the question of using prisoners for experiments was not discussed." The pronouncement of the Tribunal however was that "in many respects the accused Schilling was the most reprehensible... Although his personal motives may have stemmed from his desire to aid humanity, he permitted himself to utilize Nazi methods in contrast to other eminent German artists and scientists who either fled or refused" and the 74-year old specialist in tropical diseases was hanged (NMT vol. I pp. 290-302). 

In our political system it is not supposed to be the role of scientists and doctors to be activists against it, and it defies all notions of civility to expect medical scientists to perform their roles as impartial gatherers of information within the prevailing system and at the same time take personal responsibility for the system they are expected to work within. It is the view of the writer that this conflict be resolved, and not by giving scientists less responsibility but more. Since we have been, and will continue to be, betrayed by politicians, it is proposed that the optimum form of government is by a committee of scientists. Only then, it is proposed, can a serious attempt be made to correct the enormous evolutionary damage which has been done in recent years. In the future a licence will be required to have a baby. 

The account involving Schilling is taken directly from the Nuremberg Tribunal documentation however and, as has been shown, scepticism is in order. The chief of the Dachau War Crimes Administration Branch, Colonel A. H. Rosenfeld, was later asked if there was any truth to the stories about the mock trials and sham death sentences employed at Dachau. He replied: "Yes, of course. We couldn't have made those birds talk otherwise... It was a trick, and it worked like a charm" (Butz p. 24). 

The Müller Document
The following is taken from The Second Leuchter Report although its original language was German. "According to the Austrian Emil Lachout, the Allied military police and its Austrian auxiliaries regularly received copies of reports drawn up by the commissions of inquiry on the concentration camps. Those reports were used for research on 'war crimes.' On 1 October 1948, Commander Anton Müller and his second-in-command, Emil Lachout, sent the following memo from Vienna to all interested parties": 
Military Police Service
Circular Letter No. 31/48
Vienna, 1 Oct. 1948
10th dispatch

1. The Allied Commissions of Inquiry have so far established that no people were killed by poison gas in the following concentration camps: Bergen-Belsen, Buchenwald, Dachau, Flossenbürg, Gross-Rosen, Mauthausen and its satellite camps, Natzweiler, Neuengamme, Niederhagen (Wewelsburg), Ravensbrück, Sachsenhausen, Stutthof, Theresienstadt. 

In those cases, it has been possible to prove that confessions had been extracted by torture, and that testimonies were false. 

This must be taken into account when conducting investigations and interrogations with respect to war crimes. The result of this investigation should be brought to the cognizance of former concentration camp inmates who at the time of the hearings testified about the murder of people, especially Jews, with poison gas in those concentration camps. Should they insist on their statements, charges are to be brought against them for making false statements... 

Harwood also pointed out in Did Six Million Really Die? that despite inspections by the ICRC of numerous concentration camps, throughout the 1,600 pages of their Report of the International Committee of the Red Cross on its Activities during the Second World War, published in the same year, not a single mention is made of any gas chamber. Thus, as early as 1948, the travesty of justice which had taken place at Nuremberg was becoming clear. It was too late however; the stable doors were being closed after the horse had bolted. The Holocaust legend had been born. 

Opinion of a Real Court of Law
Humans are very capable of false perception. One example is that 80% of the witnesses of an aeroplane crash will claim that an explosion took place before the aeroplane hit the ground, when the reality is otherwise. In the mid-late 18th century there was a school of philosophers, which included Jean-Jacques Rousseau, who maintained that chimpanzees and other anthropoid apes were man. One went even further: "Nor" wrote Edward Long, "do they seem at all inferior in the intellectual faculties to many of the Negroe race" (Baker pp. 22-23). The value of science is that it provides us with objective measurement and a basis for accurate judgement. 

Fourteen years after the completion of the Nuremberg Tribunals, in 1963, the principal defendant in a trial in Frankfurt was R. K. L. Mulka, an ex-SS Hauptsturmführer who had briefly been an adjutant to Höss at Auschwitz. Continuing in the tradition of Nuremberg, Mulka and several other of the 21 defendants were being tried a second time for the same offences. The opinion of the court is so cogent that the reader's forgiveness is requested for the following lengthy extract to be reproduced verbatim: 

This determination of guilt has however presented the court with extraordinarily difficult problems. 

Except for a few not very valuable documents, almost exclusively only witness testimonies were available to the court for the reconstruction of the deeds of the defendants. It is an experience of criminology that witness testimony is not among the best of evidence. This is even more the case if the testimony of the witness refers to an incident which had been observed twenty years or more ago under conditions of unspeakable grief and anguish. Even the ideal witness, who only wishes to tell the truth and takes pains to explore his memory, is prone to have many memory gaps after twenty years. He risks the danger of projecting onto other persons things which he actually has experienced himself and of assuming as his own experiences things which were related to him by others in this terrible milieu. In this way he risks the danger of confusing the times and places of his experiences. 

It has certainly been for the witnesses an unreasonable demand for us to question them today concerning all details of their experiences. It is asking too much of the witnesses if we today, after twenty years, still wish to know when, where and how, in detail, who did what. On this basis astonishment was repeatedly expressed by the witnesses, that we asked them for such a precise reconstruction of the past occurrences. It was obviously the duty of the defence that it wished to make these witnesses appear ridiculous. On the contrary, we must call to mind only once what endless detailed work is performed in a murder trial in our days - how out of small mosaic-like pieces the picture of the true occurrences at the moment of the murder is put together. There is available for the court's deliberations above all the corpse, the record of the post-mortem examination, the expert opinions of specialists on the causes of death and the day on which the deed must have occurred, and the manner in which the death occurred. There is available the murder weapon and fingerprints to identify the perpetrator; there are footprints he left behind as he entered the house of the slain, and many more details at hand which provide absolute proof to the court that this person was done to death by a definite perpetrator of the deed. 

All this was missing in this trial. We have no absolute evidence for the individual killings; we have only the witness testimonies. However sometimes these testimonies were not as exact and precise as is necessary in a murder trial. If therefore the witnesses were asked, in which year or month an event happened, it was entirely necessary for the determination of the truth. And these dates sometimes presented to the court the only evidence for the purpose of determining whether the event related by the witness did in fact happen as the witness related it, or whether the witness had committed an error or confused victims. The court was naturally aware that it was an extraordinary burden for the witnesses, in view of the camp conditions, where no calendars, clocks or even primitive means of keeping records were available, to be asked to relate in all details what they experienced at the time. Nevertheless the court had to be able to determine whether an individual defendant did in fact commit a real murder, and when and where. That is required by the penal code. 

This was an ordinary criminal trial, whatever its background. The court could only judge according to the laws it is sworn to uphold, and these laws require the precise determination of the concrete guilt of an accused on both the objective and subjective sides. The overburdening of the witnesses shows how endlessly difficult it is to ascertain and portray concrete events after twenty years. We have heard witnesses who at first appeared so reliable to the court that we even issued arrest warrants on their declarations. However in exhaustive examination of the witness declarations in hours-long deliberations it was found that these declarations were not absolutely sound and did not absolutely correspond to objective truth. For this purpose certain times had to be ascertained and documents re-examined - whether the accused, who was charged by a witness, was at the camp Auschwitz at all at the time in question, whether he could have committed the deed there, or whether the witness perhaps projected the deed onto the wrong person. 

In view of this weakness of witness testimony - and I speak now only of the sworn witnesses whose desire for the truth, the subjective and objective truth, the court was thoroughly confident of - the court especially had to examine the witness testimonies. Only a few weeks ago we read in the newspapers that a member of the Buchenwald concentration camp staff had been convicted of murdering an inmate who, it is clear today, is alive and was certainly not murdered. Such examples should make us think. These cases of miscarriages of justice do not serve to strengthen the respect for the law. On these grounds also the court has avoided whatever could even in the most remote sense suggest a summary verdict. The court had examined every single declaration of each of the witnesses with great care and all earnestness and consequently is unable to arrive at verdicts of guilty on a whole list of charges, since secure grounds could not be found for such verdicts. The possibilities of verifying the witness declarations were very limited. All traces of the deeds were destroyed. Documents which could have given the court important assistance had been burned... (Butz pp. 187-188). 

The conclusion of the Frankfurt court reproduced here is useful because it presents us with a fair picture of the distortions which can occur when relying on witness testimonies. However it appears to be erroneous in at least one significant respect: it speaks of "the camp conditions, where no calendars, clocks or even primitive means of keeping records were available." Clearly not only Rassinier had adequate means of recording dates; many of the 200 diaries which are held in RIOD's archives were written within concentration camps. Hence it seems that facilities for precisely documenting incidents within the camps were not entirely lacking, and we might then be doubly sceptical of witnesses who make unsubstantiated claims to have seen events for which no separate and independent corroborative evidence exists. 

The opinion of the Frankfurt Court quoted here might be contrasted with a piece in (probably a letter to) the New York Times which appeared in 1948. George A. McDonough had the dubious privilege of serving in the roles of both prosecutor and defence counsel at the Dachau Trials, and wrote: 

Hearsay evidence was admitted indiscriminately and sworn statements of witnesses were admissible regardless of whether anybody knew the person who made the statement or the individual who took the statement. If a prosecutor considered a statement of a witness to be more damaging than the witness' oral testimony in court he would advise the witness to go back to his home, submit the statement as evidence, and any objection by defense counsel was promptly overruled (Butz pp. 23-24). 

New Evidence
Given that no homicidal gas chambers were in operation in the German camps mentioned in the Müller document, attention shifted to the camps situated in Poland. Under communist rule these camps could not be inspected but a major development occurred in 1988 when the American engineer Fred Leuchter visited the Auschwitz, Birkenau and Majdanek camps to perform forensic tests, specifically to take samples of the residues of cyanide which would inevitably remain if the supposed gas chambers had actually been used as such. 

Zyklon B (hydrocyanic acid) is an insecticide which was used to de-louse buildings and inmates' clothing in attempts to prevent the spread of typhus in the camps, and this is the substance which is claimed to have been used for the gassings. Leuchter is a consultant who has been hired by the American Prison Service to advise on the construction of real gas chambers. Residues of cyanide in Delousing Facility No. 1 at Birkenau, which was the control sample, were 1000 times higher than those in the communal shower areas which are supposed to have served as gas chambers. Residues of cyanide in the latter were approximately equivalent to what would be expected from a single disinfection cycle. The Leuchter Report concludes: 

After reviewing all of the material and inspecting all of the sites at Auschwitz, Birkenau and Majdanek, your author finds the evidence is overwhelming. There were no execution gas chambers at any of these locations. It is the best engineering opinion of this author that the alleged gas chambers at the inspected sites could not then have been, or now, be utilized or seriously considered to function as execution gas chambers. 

Subsequent reports by the chemist Germar Rudolf and the President of the Austrian Chamber of Engineers Walter Lüftl have agreed with Leuchter's conclusions. 

Outstanding Matters
It is assumed that the Müller Document is not a forgery, for one must always be careful. Errors can be introduced and then carried forward by repeated quoting, gathering in this manner a momentum which is difficult to arrest. An example might again be provided by the Anne Frank Diary - most allegations that it is a fraud stem from an inaccurate 1967 article in the American Mercury attributed to Teressa Hendry. The same article reappeared 11 years later in the Washington weekly The Spotlight (C. E. pp. 78-83, 91-92). 

We need have few worries about the Müller document however since it is now accepted among scholars that, despite what was concluded at Nuremburg, no gas chambers existed on German soil. 'Joe Public' may still be under the impression that every German camp had a gas chamber cunningly disguised as a shower, but this is not historians' current view: the showers were just that. There are a number of accounts of showers, and a building at Auschwitz, being 'converted' immediately after the war for demonstration purposes, which thousands of visitors now see. 

The cynic might remark from the scenario presented by Kogon et al. that, having failed to make the charge of mass murder by gassing in the German camps stick, an attempt is being made to supplant it with new charges of events which supposedly took place at German sites which practically no-one has ever heard of. This is reminiscent of the political practice of 'mud slinging,' used most overtly for character assassinations and by deranged conspiracy theorists (UFO's, abductions by aliens, men on Mars and the like). The general principle is 'If we throw enough mud, anything we can concoct, sooner or later some of it will stick.' By repeated attempts and sheer force of effort a scenario is ultimately arrived upon which cannot be disproved. Claims of the existence of gas chambers in the Polish camps have been compromised, to say the least. 

The remaining facts of the matter are these. Hitler introduced euthanasia by decree on 1 September 1939, authorizing the mercy killing of mortally ill patients: 

Reichsleiter Bouhler and Dr. Brandt, M. D., are charged with the responsibility of enlarging the authority of certain physicians to be designated by name in such a manner that persons who, according to human judgement, are incurable can, upon a most careful diagnosis of their condition of sickness, be accorded a mercy death. 

The law was later extended to include the severely insane. These measures caused considerable disquiet among the German civilian population, including rumours of gassings (Butz p. 174 and NMT vol. I pp. 794-802). These rumours may even have been the original inspiration for the claims by the British Psychological Warfare Executive and Jews of the existence of gas chambers. 

At the present day, euthanasia is allowed in Holland and it is well-known that not all cases are voluntary. Such is the lack of respect for the law and the consensus in favour of euthanasia (or the absence of protest against it) that probably the majority of cases do not follow the official procedure. There are presently 1400 official cases per year and at least as many again unofficial ones. A visiting delegation from the British House of Lords uncovered a case of an elderly, mentally-ill woman taking up a needed bed whose family were having difficulties paying for her treatment. Such was the combination of circumstances that the temptation was apparently overwhelming, and a lethal injection was administered - she was killed. 


On the Book of Frank

SIMON SHEPPARD

	3. The Current Position: The New Religion

Nowadays the Anne Frank House at Prinsengracht 263 is the most popular tourist attraction in Amsterdam. It is open 362 days per year, receiving 600,000 paying visitors annually, and it routinely has scores of tourists queuing outside waiting to go in. During the holiday months it achieves a quite astonishing throughput of over 300 tourists hourly, generating an income of over fl. 2000,- ($1250) per hour. Its annual income is around 5 million guilders. Half of the revenue obtained is immediately sent to Switzerland to the benefactors of Otto Frank's estate; the remainder is used by the Anne Frank Foundation for the maintenance of the house and other activities. Specifically the Foundation "produces lesson material on the Second World War as it relates to today, the multi-ethnic society and anti-racism" and "organizes courses and training sessions aimed at the creation of equal opportunities for ethnic minorities." Despite its enormous income the leaflet which guides visitors around the premises still finishes with an invitation for donations: "Gifts are of essential importance... your support is more than welcome." 

The Foundation has not escaped local criticism and recently reports have appeared of a rift between it and the parent Foundation in Basel. It has been claimed that it was not Jews that the Nazis were against so much as Jewishness (Butz p. 73) and the Anne Frank Foundation may be a modern incarnation of it. 

Racial and National Considerations
AMF was 13 when her diary was started and 15 when the last entry was made. The impression which emerges from its complete form is of a prolific but otherwise generally unremarkable individual possessing the high sex-drive and tenuous grasp of reality which is characteristic of her race. A whole array of other Jewish racial characteristics are waiting to be isolated from the text. Anne and Margot look down on the Dutch children playing outside in the street (12 December 1942, Version b); Anne in particular seems to have picked up and adopted any idea willy-nilly. There is Peter's inferiority complex and "tinge of dishonesty" (16 February 1944, Version a). We might expect the persecution complex to be not long in becoming apparent, but since the eight in hiding really were being persecuted we need an example which does not directly involve them, and in the entry of 30 September 1942 we have it. Mr. Bunjes was a projectionist at a local cinema. "Mr. Bunjes has been sacked from Cineac because one evening he cut a film a bit short in order to catch the last tram, but they really did it because he is quarter Jew, but doesn't count as one" (Version a, omitted). 

Evidence of a matriarchal bias appears in several entries ("he's only a boy" etc.) and the entry for 13 June 1944 (Version a, omitted) is naught but an immature, and characteristically dishonest, feminist tract. (In fairness it should be stated that its inspiration came from a Dutchman, Paul de Kruif.) Stereotypical vacillation and absence of identity is displayed by Mrs. van Pels in the entry of 2 May 1943 (Version a, omitted, and preserved by having being written into blank pages at the end of Part 1): "First Kerli says 'I'll have myself baptized later' and the next day it's 'I always want to live in Jerusalem, because I only feel at home among Jews'!" In that same entry it is said that Pfeffer, who supposedly has a medical degree, "invents everything at random" and later makes "splendid promises, none of which he ever actually keeps" (17 November 1943, Version b, omitted). Almost all of the group seem to make claim to be something they are not (unassuming, modest etc.). There are several squabbles about food and instances of hoarding from each other, including even from their protectors (1 May 1943, Version b, omitted; 25 March 1944, Version a, omitted). 

It seems to be generally agreed that the stringency of the German forces in occupied Holland was because Queen Wilhelmina, the Prime Minister and most of the Dutch Government had fled to relative safety in London: "Our beloved Queen... is taking a holiday in order to be strong for her return to Holland" (11 May 1944, Version a). In the eyes of the Reich, Holland had been deserted by its leadership and hence its right to mediate for its people had been forfeited. Holland was also a potential Allied invasion site. 

Concerning England, on 22 May 1944 (Version a) AMF wrote: "No country is going to sacrifice its men for nothing and certainly not in the interests of another." Later in this entry there is evidence that many of the Dutch were coming round to the Axis point of view, and this could account for their arrest ten weeks later: "The attitude of a great many people towards us Jews has changed. We hear that there is anti-Semitism now in circles that never thought of it before." By others however there were comments about "the idle English" (13 June 1944, Version a). The entry continues with a most heartening statement of the Nationalist point of view: "This sort of argument boils down to saying that the English must fight, struggle and sacrifice their sons for the Netherlands and other occupied countries... What, I wonder, would have become of the Netherlands and her neighbours had England signed a peace with Germany, which she could have done on so many occasions?" (Version a, omitted). Readers hoping to find consistency in the Frank accounts will be disappointed; so much is said, with varying degrees of credibility, that one can almost make of it whatever one wishes. This may be a feature common to many writings possessing a religious flavour, and it is proposed that this is the particular characteristic which the Frank industry exploits. Then it follows that the building at Prinsengracht 263 performs not so much the role of a museum as a shrine. 


	The New Religion

A rational and consistent argument exists that in the Holocaust legend we are dealing with recycled wartime propaganda which certain factions find very advantageous to sustain. Indeed the list of those factions is so multifarious that it is easier simply to specify the single group to whose benefit it is not: decent, White, heterosexual males. In the long term however by destroying Occidental civilization with such dishonesty - which it is quite capable of doing - it will benefit no-one. By relentlessly extending the boundaries of taboo, by suppressing open discussion of plain facts about the differences between men and women and the different traits of races, these factions have succeeded in instituting what is effectively a new religion. We find Roosevelt in the unlikely role of prophet: at Teheran on 30 November 1943 (the day after Stalin had proposed shooting 50,000 German Officers after the war: Taylor p. 125), 

"the President finished up by returning to the tint theme and said that the effect of this war would be to blend all those multitudinous tints, shades and colours into a rainbow where their individuality would be lost in the whole, and that this whole rainbow represented the emblem of hope..." (Bryant p. 99). 

Three essential components of a religion are hope, faith and the resolution of guilt. Christianity has been in decline for several decades in Western society, but humans are still religious creatures and the distortions arising from the Holocaust legend have satisfied the human need for something to believe in. Faith is vested in the Utopia on Earth which is to arrive when we achieve the ideal of a multiracial, 'rainbow' society in which racism has been eradicated and everyone, regardless of their colour or creed, will live together in harmony. 

Guilt is placed squarely onto the shoulders of males; every perceived misdemeanour is used as ammunition against him. Paramount among these, of course, is the Holocaust. Occidental males are incapacitated by false guilt and self-doubt: 'Look what happened last time White males followed their instincts.' Every race is encouraged to be proud of its culture except Whites, and one can talk about thoroughbreed dogs but never humans. Every kind of pollution is bad except, it seems, the genetic variety. 

In Holland the creed is explicit and thus readily perceived: the trick of redefinition is used, and it is unselfconsciously stated, particularly by females, that "there'll be no racism when everyone's the same colour." Presumably crime will also disappear when all the laws are repealed. It cannot work and it will never work, because any system based on dishonesty will ultimately fail. 

This hypothesis of the essentially religious nature of the Holocaust explains the uncritical acceptance of obviously faked photographs (see Walendy, Forged War Crimes) and the incredible death rates which were supposed to have been achieved in the camps. Similarly, despite the knowledge that no gas chambers existed in the German camps it does not stop emotional, guilt-laden homages to them by Germans. Others return giving overtly religious testimonies of how 'the birds stopped singing' or 'the flowers refused to grow.' The vitriol and vilification which can be provoked when questioning the veracity of the Holocaust is directly comparable to what would have ensued when questioning the existence of a Supreme Deity a couple of centuries ago. Indeed Butz has compared the Nuremberg Tribunals to early witchcraft trials in which the existence of the Devil was never questioned, and its denial was completely impractical as a defence (Butz pp. 188-189). The defendants at Nuremberg were placed in just as impossible a position. Comparisons can be drawn between images of Jews being herded into the Nazi's infernal gas chambers and the Devil shovelling coals to torment the wicked in the fires of Hell. In this case however, the victims are portrayed as completely innocent. 

It may well be that in the Jewish accusations of genocide, particularly by the large contingent of German-Jewish émigrés among the staff of the post-war military tribunals, they were actually projecting their nature onto the Germans. In other words, had they been in a position of power they really would have pursued a genocidal policy against the Germans, and were assuming that the Germans had acted as they would in similar circumstances (see the articles by Shahak and Bourne). The Nazis neither intended, nor indeed achieved any such objective: Butz, Harwood and Rassinier have all expended considerable effort showing demographically that large numbers of 'Holocaust survivors' remained. Holland was particularly harshly treated for the reasons stated; many Jews were simply isolated in ghettos. 

Several expressions of a Jewish desire to make the German race extinct (by forced sterilization for example) appeared in books published shortly before and during WWII. Jews openly advocate limiting freedom of speech and this is invariably the first move of any dictator. 

Big Sister
These conclusions, as indeed the realization by the writer that he was a member of the huge proportion of the population which has been utterly brainwashed, were arrived upon following three years of investigations into human sexuality in Amsterdam. Contemporary sex difference and evolution theory was used as a basis for the research. The undertaking was often arduous, sometimes entertaining but always enlightening. It might be added that these results were unexpected and surprising, and the reader is provided here with a summary of my findings. 

The male instinct is to be logical and direct: according to evolution theory, the strongest strategy for the furtherance of a male's genes is to impregnate as many reproductive females as possible, going from one to the next as quickly as possible. Since this he generally cannot do, substitution and sublimation have evolved. Typical substitutes for the male are business (resolve one deal, make a profit, go on to the next) and sport (climax in one race, learn from any mistakes, go onto the next). Sublimation is the redirection of sexual drives to art, literature and, in its most evolved form, science. 

Females, by contrast, are illogical. Since the costs of sex for females are huge compared to those for males, females have evolved a multiplicity of mechanisms to avoid sex. Until comparatively recently for example, around one in six females could expect to die in childbirth or during attempts to induce abortions; for this reason the best female strategy is to prevaricate and delay while she selects an optimum mate. The female instinct is to obfuscate; if this were not so, and she was logical, she would be too easy a conquest. Females will use any argument, however ludicrous, to avoid sex. An immediate corollary is that females will use any argument, however ridiculous, if it suits their purpose. The frustrated male takes refuge in the relative logicality of science and technology, and by this means sublimation evolved and is reinforced. 

It is stressed that we are not necessarily talking here about male and female individuals but about male and female evolution strategies. This is a doubly important point, for reasons which will become clear. The payoff for an evolution strategy is the number of offspring which is produced, including how successfully they in turn produce offspring. 

The natural domain of the male is things: objects like engines and computers. The natural domain of the female is relationships, particularly with children. All of the roles which females perform in work and business have been defined by males; since these are within the natural domain of the male, the female imitates him. Relationships are the area in which females excel, and in which males cannot (neglecting physical force) compete with females, so some males will imitate females or, more specifically, they will employ female strategies. 

Not only may males imitate females in some restricted spheres but males can actually possess female characteristics, since females have been selecting males possessing female characteristics for generations. Like is attracted to like or, as Richard Dawkins puts it, 'the gene is selfish.' A ready example is provided by monogamous males. As has been intimated, males are essentially polygamous while females are monogamous, but females will very definitely prefer a monogamous male to a polygamous one. A male who is monogamous is expressing a female characteristic. True male characteristics still exist however: our civilization depends on them. One of the most important male characteristics is the ability to sublimate. 

Since males vary more than females, the situation can arise where some males express female characteristics more strongly than do females themselves. An example is provided by the male feminist Paul de Kruif who, quoted via Anne Frank, believed that "women suffer more pain, more illness and more misery than any war hero just from giving birth to children" (13 June 1944, Version a, omitted). The plain truth, especially nowadays, is that if females did not want children they would not have them. Practically all of the major contemporary problems of the world, such as environmental pollution, global warming and the large numbers of endangered species, are the ultimate consequence of over-population. 

The female strategy is to use signals (Table 8) because they are ambiguous and therefore manipulative. By signals is meant body language, particularly gestures of a sexual nature. Signalling is an elemental mechanism by which neurosis is transferred onto males, and the less likely the male is to respond, the more likely the female is to signal. Many female characteristics derive from the greater physical strength of males, and these mechanisms have evolved to compensate for this. Females are incapable of sublimation because it is not required: the primary sexual activity of females is relationships and relationships, according to this analysis, is sex. Ultimately females have only one strategy: to raise the value of sex, because this is their only unique commodity. 

A breakthrough - if not a rude awakening - came at a point in the author's investigations when it was realized that it was not female and, by antithesis, male characteristics which were being analysed, but female and White male characteristics. The notion developed of the 'Double Reinforcement of Female Characteristics.' In other words, males of non-European races express female characteristics. The discovery was made that many male characteristics are partially or completely absent in non-Occidental races. 

Some female characteristics are plainly disruptive, even destructive, but their elaboration is unfortunately outside the scope of this treatise. Four characteristics which are particularly relevant however, because they appear to be strongly expressed by Jews, are the control of information, Malign Encouragement, transduction and the persecution complex. 

If a man takes his wife to an office Christmas party and a pass is made at her by a tipsy subordinate, an entirely different outcome may ensue according to when the information is divulged. If the event is relayed on the way home immediately afterwards it may well be laughed off, but if the information is withheld until six months later (at a time when the employee is being considered for promotion say, and by which time the incident has been somewhat embroidered) the effect might be entirely different; he may not be promoted but dismissed. (Note that here, as is typical, the costs of sex are being maximized and incurred without any physical sex taking place.) Younger females tend to divulge information immediately, but as experience is acquired it is more likely to be reserved for the occasion when it achieves maximum advantage or effect. In the female way of things however the information is rarely withheld entirely; hence, perhaps, the maxim 'The truth will out.' 

Females conspire and males compete. Conspiring (acting in concert) gives rise to the tendency of disparate elements to forge 'unholy alliances' in order to achieve a common purpose or rally against a common opponent. Conspiracies may not be so much secret as instinctive. There is a natural conspiracy among females to increase the costs of sex, and particularly to encourage monogamy: a female who did not conform would be exploited by practically every male in the tribe, and would be unlikely to be supported by a male when she bore a child of unknown paternity later. 

Malign Encouragement is encouraging an opponent to pursue an adverse strategy. If country A goes to war against B, it is clearly in A's interest to encourage B's pacifist movement. One likely origin of Malign Encouragement is the intensification of male breeding competition: if a male takes a girl out on a first date and as soon as his back is turned another male makes an approach, then the female is employing Malign Encouragement if she is as receptive to the approaching male as she is to the one who is supposed to be taking her out. This is an example of how females can discourage males from using female strategies against them (it is noteworthy however that there is usually little to prevent males using female procedures against each other). 

Transduction is defined as the induction of a false feeling. Archetypal transduction might be the guilt felt by a customer on being observed by a security guard in a supermarket, even though nothing has been stolen. Overt transduction is laughing at someone unjustly, but a subtler form of transduction is often encountered in leaving behaviour, for example quitting a place because a certain person has arrived. 

That some males strongly express female characteristics explains why, as an example, females are generally better at cooking (because of their greater sensitivity to taste and smell) but the best chefs are male. It also provides us with a possible origin of the persecution complex; it may be that the persecution complex is a stronger male expression of the 'subordination conviction.' In former times females were subordinate, so the subordination conviction is, or was, founded in reality. The stronger, male expression of it in the form of the persecution complex however is not. If a group possessing the persecution complex is tolerated the trait becomes advantageous to them, and this will inevitably be to the detriment of any coexistent race which does not possess the trait. 

The advantage the persecution complex confers will be proportional to its separation from reality. Thus the world is fixed on the deaths of an unquantifiable number of Jews while neglecting the extraordinary suffering of all the others, 41 million of whom died (Messenger pp. 242-243). This figure is based on that data and the presumptions that the Russians may have exaggerated their losses while the Chinese under-estimated theirs, and that between 300,000 and one million Jews perished. Messenger's total neglecting the Jewish six million claim is 41,151,000. 

The Super Feminine State
Because of their common tendency to conspire and other factors, neither non-Occidental males, nor homosexuals, nor other females in positions of power are likely to attempt to limit the excesses of females. Males who behave excessively find themselves in prison; consistently 95% of the prison population is male. The excesses of females, facilitated by males continually giving their womenfolk the benefit of the doubt, progress by gradual but increasingly pernicious degrees. "It was always the women, and above all the young ones, who were the most bigoted adherents of the Party, the swallowers of slogans, the amateur spies and nosers-out of unorthodoxy" wrote Orwell. 

Behaviour progressively becomes abnormal, because normal behaviour involves obligations which females find advantageous to avoid. At the mundane level this involves not keeping appointments, not sitting next to someone known in a bar (Sitting Apart), ignoring acquaintances in the street and not acknowledging greetings (Stonewalling), and the interpretation of every friendly remark as an approach (Enhancement of Self and removal of Male Ambiguity of Intention). Such behaviour, the author found, is routine in Amsterdam. Females strive to transfer their neurosis onto males and in this manner males are confused and become easier to manipulate. 

In Amsterdam it is absolutely commonplace to see Dutchmen pushing prams and Dutchwomen taking Negro partners; indeed, according to the situation and the time of year, mixed race relationships (specifically, White females with Negro or other immigrant male partners) can comprise the majority of the relationships in evidence. Surveys were undertaken which have confirmed that it is considerably more commonplace for White females to take immigrant males as partners than is the opposite case. Charlotte Kaletta, the blonde woman who took Pfeffer as a live-in partner before he joined the group in hiding in Prinsengracht 263, is an early example of a female who delivers the ultimate insult to the males of her own race by choosing a partner from another. Otto Frank was almost certainly the expurgator of the passage "He lives with a much younger, nice Christian woman, to whom he is probably not married, but that doesn't matter" (10 November 1942, Version b, omitted). 

Recall that the female strategy is to obfuscate. By foreign denizens' inherently different signals, mores and practices the social environment is made immeasurably more complex and ambiguous; by the presence of different races the female objective of obfuscation is fulfilled. Males are territorial: a high population density and especially the presence of alien races flies in the face of male instincts, further confuses males and makes them yet more readily manipulable by females. The very presence of immigrants empowers females. A further result is the complete disruption of Western social cohesion. If a race which sublimates coexists with one which does not, the former will be at a reproductive disadvantage while the latter will multiply in greater numbers. This is precisely what we see. 

Although it is buried beneath layers of confusion and conditioning, the true male instinct on the sight of one of the females of his race with a male of another is to kill. It is the view of the writer that the portrayal of such relationships, firstly via the media and then (by imitation) in real life, accounts for the dramatically increased male suicide rates in recent years in both Britain and America. 

Actually, this is an over-simplification: at the outset it appears that mentally unstable females perform the role of pioneers, establishing that an unwritten rule can be broken without incurring retribution. Thereafter such relationships are portrayed in the media (particularly in soap operas, which females quote as if they were reality: this is the recently-defined Reidentification Syndrome) then, by imitation, they are embarked upon more generally. 

Big Sister is big because of the greater uniformity of females and their tendency to conspire. The measurements establishing females' predominant role in miscegenation taken in Amsterdam have also been replicated in London. This bias is manifest across females of all ages, all social classes and in many other countries besides Holland and Britain. Many female traits, although they may be less obvious, follow the same pattern. The female inclination in this regard demonstrates that anti-Nationalist influence, which is presently acute, has a female origin, and its dysgenic effects are obvious. 

As already noted, Big Sister's ranks are not restricted to females: Her most forceful proponents are likely to be males who combine both male and female characteristics. Other males simply know no better. Some females, usually elder ones, will occasionally make statements of striking reasonableness but these will generally be lost amid the opposing clamour. The predominant female instinct is to increase the costs of sex: practically every word females utter serves, either individually or collectively, to raise its value. (Raising the perceived value of sex is the unstated role of sexual images in advertising.) Giving females a voice and allowing them to express their opinions on contemporary social problems is rather like asking the Devil for advice on how to cure sin. 

Women appear to have been most instrumental in maintaining the eight German Jews hiding at Prinsengracht 263 and, since females are selfish (because, in the biological terminology, reproductive females are always gravid), the question may be posed as to what they had to gain from it. It is proposed that by having a group of frightened and vulnerable Jews dependent on them they were themselves promoted. 

If it were Big Brother we were dealing with there would be a leader, a symbol and a readily identifiable target to oppose. The control Big Sister exerts is much more subtle and pervasive, and doubly dangerous as a consequence. As a regime it is singularly intolerant, despite claims to the contrary: dissension, even in jest, is not permitted. The result is to be a world which is filled, both literally and metaphorically, with cats and diseased pigeons. It will be, in some places has already become, the age of the half-caste third-rate Bimbo. It will be a society which discriminates in every subtle and significant way against the very people who are most valuable to it. 

The ability of the mass media to manipulate minds is a power which would have been unimaginable a century ago. This capacity to control information, like all of the tools which females employ, was created by males, but it is now firmly in the hands of Big Sister: the onslaught of propaganda is incessant. The female strategy is to take the power which males provide and then use it against them. Females will also create problems and then blame males (Creative Transduction). As Darwin, Nietzsche and Rousseau all concluded, women are inferior, and giving a weak person power makes them not strong but strongly weak. Intelligence may be used to solve problems and create wealth or alternatively it can merely be employed to divest others of wealth by clever manipulation. 

Diversionary Purpose is ostensibly pursuing one objective while actually pursuing another. Yet another female procedure is Vicarious Generosity: giving away, often enthusiastically, something which is not one's to give. "We didn't ought to 'ave trusted 'em... I said so all along. We didn't ought to 'ave trusted the buggers" said the old man in Nineteen Eighty-Four, but he had forgotten who 'they' were. 

The Holohoax religion, for which the Book of Frank was just a prototype, suits Big Sister just fine. 
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